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xii PREFACE.

—““ rapacious and profane, of violent temper and obdu-
rate heart, has left a name which, wherever the Scottish

race is settled on the fuce of the globe, is mentioned with
a peculiar energy of hatred.”

No historical character, we verily believe, was ever
more recklessly pourtrayed, or in colours more false than
these. In due time, Deo volente, Dundee, too, must be
redeemed from a vulgar error of history, thus glorified
by the golden pen that delights the present age.

AINsLIE PrLacE,
March 1856.






























2 LIFE OF MONTROSE.

time of his birth, derived from the family papers. He chose
his own curators immediately after the death of his father,
which occurred towards the close of the year 1626. He must
therefore have completed his fourteenth year on or before that
time. On the 22d of October 1632, he was transacting busi-
ness, as a minor, with those curators. So he had not then
attained his majority. That he was of age, however, in the
following year, when Charles the First was crowned in Scot-
land, there is some reason to believe, from the Lord Lyon’s re-
cord of the coronation pageant.

All this confirms the circumstantial statement of Montrose'’s
chaplain, Dr Wishart, that when the Marquis escaped to Nor-
way, on the 3d of September 1646, he was thirty-four years of
age,—* wtatis vero sum, 3+.”

Thus, although no special record of the precise birth-day, or
birth-place, of the great Marquis of Montrose has been dis-
covered, it seems proved beyond doubt that he was born some
time in the year 1612, twelve years before Charles the First
ascended the throne.

Tradition assigns the honour of his birth-place to an old
mansion in the town of Montrose, said to have been formerly
possessed by the family. The fact is not proved, nor is it im-
portant. Unquestionably he was born in Scotland, and we may
assume in one or other of the family mansions.

We need not pause upon the lineage of the greatest of the
Grahams. The antiquity and heroism of his race are too well
authenticated not to be independent of a doubtful legend re-
specting the wall of Antoninus, since termed Grakam’s Dyke,
by reason, as it is said, of an ancestor having made the first
breach in its masonry. Such traditions may assist the peerage
writer, but are of little value to a family history which can be
traced back, through a series of unquestionable records, to the
year 1128, and whose greatest worthies of old, however distin-
guished in arms, and by feudal fidelity, are now lost in the
lustre of MONTROSE and DUNDEE.

But without entering minutely into the antiquities of the
family, it may gratify at least a sect in Scotland to learn, that
the surname of Grim, Gram, Greme, or Grakam, is by some
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That humble but quaint and useful contemporary chronicler,
Robert Birrell,—a worthy burgess of Edinburgh who kept a
diary of passing events,—thus notes an adventure of the young
Lord Graham’s, which, in later days, would have obtained a
more circumstantial record :— )

* 1595, the 19th of January: The young Earl of Montrose
fought a combat with Sir James Sandilands, at the Salt Trone
of Edinburgh, thinking to have reyenged the slaughter of his
cousin, Mr John Graham.”

An anecdote so illustrative of the character of the parent of
the great Marquis, not to speak of the habits of the times, we
may be allowed to trace to its origin.

John Graham of Hallyards, a scion of the noble stock, as the
above testifies, had been promoted to the place of an Ordinary
Lord of Session in 1584. The estate of Hallyards consisted of
Temple lands, which this judicial functionary had obtained
through his wife, the widow of Sir James Sandilands of Calder.
That lady held them upon a title granted by her first husband,
whose tenants had a preferable right of possession. To defeat
this, a deed was forged by a notary,—at the suggestion, it is
said, of William Graham, a brother of the Lord of Session,—
by which it was made to appear that the tenants had given up
their right. Consequently they were cast in, an action raised to
establish it. The forgery was discovered ; and the result, not
unusual in those times, was, that the poor notary, probably the
least guilty of the parties in this conspiracy, was hanged. Lord
Hallyards then raised another action against the minister of
Stirling, who, he alleged, had extorted a false confession from
the unfortunate notary.—another well known trait of the times.
This step brought the General Assembly of the Kirk, and the
Court of Session, into one of those violent collisions, an undula-
tion of which has been felt in these latter days. The Assembly
cited the law Lord to appear, and answer for his scandal against
the Kirk. The Court of Session stood up for the independence
of their own jurisdiction and members. They sent their Presi-
sident, Lord Provand, with the Lords Culross and Barnbarroch,
as a deputation to the ecclesiastical court, disclaiming the right
of the Assembly to interfere in the matter. Both jurisdictions
were obstinate, and the dispute was evaded without being pro-
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Her destruction was effected by means of an enchanted jewel !
Now, of Lady Margaret’s grandfather, Patrick Lord Ruthven,
John Knox narrates, in his history, that upon one occasion
when Queen Mary was out hawking near Kinross, her Majesty,
in conversation with some of her suite, * began diverse other
purposes, such as the offering of @ ring to her by Lord Ruthven,
whom,” she said, ** I cannot love, for I know him to use enchant-
ment, and yet he is made one of my Privy Council.” Secret,
but surely most impotent magical charms, were said to have
been found disposed about the person of the Earl her brother,
upon the occasion of his most suspicious slaughter. And the
ghastly head of her father had but recently ceased to be bat-
tered by the elements that warred with the gory pinnacle of the
Tolbooth of Edinburgh, when that trophy was replaced by the
head of her only son.

Scot of Scotstarvit informs us, that ¢ Montrose’s mother con-
sulted with witches at his birth.” Possibly enough, considering
the prevalent superstitions and the extraction of this noble
lady. But the whole anecdote is rendered more than apocry-
phal, when that meagre and careless chronicler adds,—** Mon-
trose’s father said to a gentleman, who was sent to visit him
from a neighbour Earl, that that child would trouble all Scot-
land : he is also said to have eaten a toad, when he was a suck-
ing child.” This might have passed for an allegorical or cyni-
cal allusion to his having rashly swallowed the Scottish Cove-
nant when a young man; but the very same story is elsewhere
recorded of the Regent Morton, a century before ; upon which
occasion the father of that unfortunate nobleman was provoked
to anathematise his voracious infant in these emphatic terms :—
“ The Devil chew thee, and burst thee, there will never come
good of thee.”

If our hero’s mother consulted witches at his birth, she was
not destined long to watch the fulfilment of their predictions.
From the registers of Perth, it appears that she was buried at
the church of Aberuthven, between Perth and Auchterarder,
in the ancient mausoleum of the Montrose family, upon the
15th of April 1618. Her only son had not then completed his
sixth year.

Montrose’s father, when Lord Grabam, had mingled in the
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“ Laurence Graham,

¢ I doubt not but you have been careful in causing haste the
making of my daughter Beatrix her gown, as I directed you.
I have sent this bearer, Harry Blackwood, to bring her to me,
as he will shew you. It is my will also, that the tapestry in
my upper chamber in Kincardine be taken down, and packed
well, to come to me at Mugdock. I have sent Margaret Stir-
ling and Robert Taylor word to be careful of it, which you shall
see well done ; and send a good carriage horse with it, with all
expedition ; and send Robert Taylor to convoy it. Farther, it
is my will that you deliver to Harry Blackwood eight bolls of
meal, and four stone of cheese. From Mugdock, the 28th July
1625. MONTROSE.

“ T have directed, as I told you that I would do, my two gray
hackneys to be put to the grass in Kincardine ; and have direct-
ed Robert Mailer to wait on them. So, you shall answer him his
boll (of meal) according to use and wont.

“ To our servitor Laurence Graham, factor of Kincardine,
These.”

The monotonous and innocent country life of this thrifty
nobleman, affords a striking contrast to the stormy and tragical
fate of his immediate successor. He was possessed of various
great baronies, in the counties of Perth, Stirling, Dumbarton,
and Forfar ; and noble castles of feudal strength, all destined,
in the next generation, to be the prey of * the Troubles.” The
factor’s books indicate overflowing granaries, and wide spread
domains. One book records ‘‘ the corn-yards of Kincardine,
Old Montrose, and Maritoun;” and the crops, teinds, and
feudal duties “ of all the baronies, Oldmarok, and Easter Mug-
dock, Dundaff, Bairdrell, Kincardine, Fosswell, Aberuthven,
the Holiland, Old Montrose, Maritoun and Fullerton.” From
the same unquestionable source we derive the information, that
he had many oxen for his ploughs, consumed many puncheons
of wine, and tobacco and tobacco-pipes to a great cxtent. It
is recorded of the heroic Marquis, by a contemporary chronicler,
that he could not endure the smell of tobacco, and that the
covenanting clergy, taking advantage of this defect in his con-
stitution, nearly smoked him to death in prison before they
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stantly ringing with the shoeing of horses from the neighbour-
ing castle of Kincardine, is due the merit of affording authentic
indications of the infant chivalry of Montrose. There yet
exists the blacksmith’s account, dated 29th September 1620,
containing an item * for twa gang of shoon to Lord James's twa
naigs.” At this time he had about completed his eighth year. The
blacksmith’s accounts are continued throughout successive years
in the same style ; and the constant shoeing of Lord James’s
horses indicates that he rodo often, and rode hard, as undoubt-
edly he did for all the rest of his life.

Harry Blackwood had enough on his hands in this depart-
ment. There was a ¢ white horse of my Lord James's,” fami-
liar with the smithy of the barony. Also “ the horse that Mr
James Graham rode on,”—this personage being * the domestic
servitour™ of the young Lord. The anvil at Aberuthven was
perpetually visited by the gray mare, the aray courser, the gray
hackney, the brown horse, the sorrel naig, the pockmanty naig,
and some illustrious animal of *“ my Lord’s,” always designated
by the name of Gray Olipkant. That this was a haunt of the
young Lord’s is the less to be doubted, since we find the family
Cyclops charging six shillings ** for dressing of Lord James’s
JSensing swords,” in the year 1624, when he was just twelve years
of age. The imagination is fond to picture the retired Earl,
who thirty years before had endeavoured to pink the knight of
Calder at the Salt Trone of Edinburgh, instructing in all the
cunning of fence that son who, some twenty years later, was to
strike the dishonoured claymore from the hand of the fearful
Argyle. At the period of dressing his foils, the same sum is dis-
bursed “ to James Myln, for mending my Lord James's bow.”

The Earl's solicitude about his daughter’s frock, and the
tapestry, bespeaks tho widowed condition which had devolved
such domestic concerns upon himself; and there is enough, even
in that missive to his factor, to assure us that the fiery anta-
gonist of Sir James Sandilands had subsided, in the course of
thirty years, into a kindly and careful country gentleman. Im-
mediately prior to those orders, he had been entertaining his
friends in the castle of Kincardine, the principal residence of
the family. We find him there in the previous month of
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also much estceried him, and to whom he had been specially
recommended by King James shortly before that monarch’s
death, created him a Baronet of Nova Scotia, and soon there-
after raised him to the peerage, as Lord Napier of Merchiston,
by patent dated 4th May 1627. He was a member of the
Privy Council of Scotland from 1615 to 1641, when the domi-
nant church party there compelled King Charles to forego his
services, and those of every Scottish statesman who evinced the
slightest disposition to * divisive courses,” a convenient term of
the clerical faction for the paths of honour and patriotic loyalty.
Charles himself informed Napier, that his father, King James,
recommended him to the care of his successor ; and accordingly
he was the first Scotchman upon whom the martyr monarch
conferred a peerage. When, in the previous reign, he was
appointed to the office of Treasurer-Depute, under the Earl of
Mar, the King himself wrote in termns of the highest praise of
his character and dispositions. In those days it wasindeed no
slight commendation from the Sovereign, to say of a Scotch
statesman, that he was “ free of partiality or any factious
humour.” That James had so declared of Sir Archibald Napier
to the Earl of Mar, we learn from that nobleman’s reply, dated
from Holyrood House 24th November 1622. T received,” he
said, “ your Majesty’s letter, of the 21st October, shewing that
you have made choice of Sir Archibald Napier to be Treasurer-
Depute of this Kingdom, with the motives moving your Majesty
to take this course : Since your Majesty hath so resolved, I shall
in all humility obey your direction. As for the gentleman, he
is known to be both judicious and honest ; and, as your Majesty
writes in your own letter, free of partiality or any factious
humour; and I, with all my heart, do wish that all your Majesty's
subjects were as free of #hese two faults as I hope time shall make
known to your Majesty that both he and I are : in which respect
your Majesty hath made a good choice.”

These two national faults, to which indeed may be traced the
destruction of the public peace, and the ruin of Charles the
First, rather than to those defects in the monarch’s character
as a Sovereign, which doubtless rendered him an easier prey,—
were soon experienced by Lord Napier himself, in all their
unscrupulous virulence. The royal favours which he had so
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« T did not,” said the hero with his latest breath, * feel more
honoured when his Majesty sent me the Garter.”

“ About this time,” Wishart records, “ the Lord Napier of
Merchiston departed this life in Athole; a man of a most
innocent life, and happy parts; a truly noble gentleman, and
chief of an ancient family; one who equalled his father and
grandfather, Napiers—philosophers and mathematicians famous
through all the world—in other things, but far excelled them in
his dexterity in civil business ; a man as faithful, and as highly
esteemed by King James and King Charles : Sometime he was
Lord Treasurer, and was deservedly advanced into the rank of
the higher nobility ; and since those times had evinced so much
loyalty, and love to the King, that he was a large partaker of
the rewards which the rebels bestowed upon virtue—frequent im-
prisonment, sequestrations, and plunder: This man, Montrose,
when a boy, looked upon as a most tender father ; when he was
a youth, as a most sage admonitor ; when he was a man, as a
most faithful friend; and now that he died, was no otherwise
affected by his death than as if it had been his own father’s.”

Very different was the fato of Montrose’s eldest sister, Lady
Lilias Graham, married to Sir John Colquhoun of Luss, on the
6th of July 1620, the year after the marriage of her immediately
younger sister Lady Margaret. It is shortly recorded by all
the genealogical. and heraldic writers, in their account of the
family of Luss, that the husband of Lady Lilias was a Sir John
Colquhoun of Luss, distinguished for his loyalty to Charles 1.,
and who was persecuted by Cromwell accordingly. But a dis-
reputable father is here confounded with his loyal son of the same
name. The former, of whom we now speak, has been entirely lost
sight of (and there was good reason for doing s0), except in the
fact that he married the eldest sister of Montrose. Sir Alexander
Colquhoun, father of the husband of Lady Lilias, resigned part
at least of his family estatesin favour of his eldest son, some years
before that marriage. Two members of a prior generation of this
ancient and wealthy race, were disposed of in a summary and tra-
gical manner. Robert Birrell notes in his diary, that, “ upon the
last of November 1592, John Colquhoun was beheaded at the
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* the place™ of Old Montrose in Forfarshire ; and the place of
Garscube in Dumbartonshire.

The first mentioned, a castle of great extent and strength,
was beautifully situated on the picturesque glen of Kincardine,
overlooking a richly wooded and watered ravine of the Ruthven,
which runs into the Earn. It stood a siege against the rebel
army under Middleton, the defence being maintained, with most
inadequate resources, for fourteen days, by Montrose’s nephew,
the Master of Napier ; and when reduced on that occasion, was
utterly destroyed by fire, on the 16th of March 1646. The
lands had been acquired from the Earls of Strathearn so early
as 1236, and Kincardine Castle was the chief seat of the Mon-
trose family for upwards of four centuries.

The castle of Muadock, commanding a lake of the same
name, wa3s another ancient and stately feudal strength of the
(irahams. The lands of Strathblane and Mugdock were ob-
tained, at a very early period, from Mallwin Earl of Lennox,
and formed part of the great territory of * the Levenax.” Aec-
cording to the contemporary Spalding, the covenanting govern-
ment, when in search of materials wherewith to found an accu-
sation against Montrose in 1641, * demolishit his staitlie house
of Mugdock.”

The: place of Old Montrose fared no better in the Troubles.
This was situated across the bay from the burgh of Montrose.
Tts ancient orthography was « Ald Monros,”—mons rosarum,—
posscssed by the family in 1360, and erected into an Earldom
in 1504.

The place of Garscube, in Dumbartonshire, situated on the
banks of the Kelvin, though not of the same importance
as the feudal and baronial residences above noticed, was no
doubt a mansion of the family, in which Earl John had an
establishment, and occasionally resided, when Montrose was
a youth. Whether the house was destroyed during the Troubles
we know not; but the characteristic fate of the estate of Gar-
scube was, that in the reign of Charles II., it had become the
property of John Campbell of Succoth, the law-agent of Archi-
bald, ninth Earl of Argyle, his chicf, upon whom he waited on
the seaffold. Montrose.is bitterly accused of having desolated
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CHAPTER IL

MONTROSE PLACED UNDER PRIVATE TUITION AT GLASGOW.—HIS DOMESTIC
ESTABLISHMENT THERE.—HIS FIRST PEDAGOGUE.—HIS BOOKS AND
STUDIES.—DEATH AND FUNERAL OF HI8 FATHER.

MONTROSE'S surviving parent had wisely judged that a life of
riding, fencing, golfing, and archery, at home, was not sufficient
or safe training for a young nobleman of so forward a spirit
as this sole hope of his direct male line; and, accordingly,
we find, from the family papers, that he had placed the
boy, when twelve years of age, under private tuition at Glas-
gow. His domestic establishment there consisted of a tutor,
or “ pedagog,” as he is termed, two young pages, and a valet,
or “ domestic servitor.” The intention, doubtless, was to pre-
pare him for an University, to which we shall afterwards trace
him. The Montrose family, at this time, it would seem, pos-
sessed no habitation of their own in Glasgow, as the young
Lord was established in part of a large mansion belonging to Sir
George Elphinstone of Blythwood, Lord Justice-Clerk, who had
succeeded Lord Napier in that office, when Peers ceased to be
Ordinary Lords of Session. This habitation is described, in the
receipts for rent, as “ part of our great lodging, with the perti-
nents, situated in the city of Glasgow, near the Town-head there-
of, presently possessed by my Lord Graham and his servitors.”
This great lodging, probably, had been one of the manses of
the canons or prebendaries of the Cathedral. No trace now
remains of & building which had the honour of being inhabited
by Montrose for eighteen months of his boyhood.

The name of his pedagogue was « Master William Forrett.”
Besides directing his studies, he held the young Lord’s purse,
and settled his accounts. The title of «“ Master,” well known
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Universal History, in Latin ; Camerarius, his Living Library ;
A Treatise of the Orders of Knighthood ; The Life and Death
of Queen Mary ; Godfrye de Bulloigne his History ; The His-
tory of Zenophone, in Latin; The works of Seneca, with Lip-
sius’ Commentary.”

This curious mixture of learned and romantic study had
formed part of a sclection made by the old Earl, to compose the
library of his son in Glasgow ; and of these and the other effects
in his hands, Inchbrakic had required an account from the
tutor, adding, at the end of his memorandum, “and specially
Sir Walter Raleigh’s history.” Hence this last had been
particularly accounted for (and the trait is not unimportant), by
the fact, that the youth had taken possession of it himself, and
carried it to St Andrews, when he first joined that celebrated
University. The circumstance is the more remarkable, that
he had left behind, in the keeping of his pedagogue, articles
which might have been supposed more apt to engross his atten-
tion and personal care at this time; the gilded sword, namely,
which had been presented to him by Lord Napier, the first,
probably, of any importance acquired by Montrose ; the silk
and silver scarf, the gift of his deceased parent; his brazen
hagbut, and his mother-of-pearl cross-bow.

It was in the month of August 1627, ten monthsafterhis pupil
had succeeded to the Earldom, that Master William Forrett
delivered the books above mentioned into the hands of Graham
of Inchbrakie, one of the young nobleman’s curators, in the
castle of Kincardine; for the tutor notes that he there “delivered
to the Laird of Inchbrakie, upon the 9th of August 1627, my
Lord’s books, the names whereof followeth particularly.” This
was Patrick Graham of Inchbrakie, father of Patrick Graham
whose soubriquet was “ black Pate,” and which last was the sole
companion of our hero when, in 1644, he arrived *in Highland
weed” from his concealment among the hills, to raise the royal
standard in Athole. Inchbrakie, elder, notes, that * the books
above written were, at the instant time of the receipt thereof,
put in my Lord’s chamber by me; and thereafter put in my
Lord his Lordship’s cabinet by me, kis Lordskip then being pre-
sent.” There is something in all this precision which betokens,
not merely a curator’s attention to the minor’s affairs, but no
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of Balgowan,—all these Grahams representing distinguished
branches of the House. These were the noblemen and gentle-
men whom the young chief of the Grahams immediately assum-
cd as his curators. That they were all together in the castle
of Kincardine, and were thc friends to whom the Dyet of
the burial refers, is proved by their signatures attached to
precepts relating to the minor’s affairs, of that date.

If they mourned, they did not fast. If they grieved, their
grief was not dry. The peaceful death, and most social burial,
of the father, contrasts so strangely with the stormy and
fearful exit of the son, only twenty four years thereafter, that
we cannot forbear pausing on the scenc. There were others
present besides those enumerated above; and they appear to
have arrived, each bearing a contribution to the dainties of
the larder, as if congregating to a pic-nic feast, instead of a
funeral. There was “ presented by my Lord Stormont two
birsall fowls, six partridges, and tweclve plovers;” and among
those who paid homage at this, we can scarcely call it melan-
choly meeting, we find the names of some who, ere long, were
at war to the knife with the head of the house of Graham.
There was “presented by the laird of Laicers, a black cock,
five muirfowls, and the fourth of a hynd;” and,  presented by
Glenorquie a great hynd.” These, however, were merely by way
of compliment. Drovisions of all kinds, beef, mutton, lamb,
veal, hams, capons, geese, and other poultry, and game of every
description, were purchased for the occasion, in great abundance.
Of the latter, the * wild meat,” as it is picturesquely termed
in the records of this noble pantry,—we may, for the benefit of
the curious, note the comparative values, all entered of course
in pounds, shillings, and pence, Scots. Twenty-eight muirfowls
cost ten shillings a piece ; while twelve ptarmigan, were only
eight shillings a picce ; five black cocks and heath hens cost
eighteen shillings a piece ; and two capercailzies are set down at
three pounds four shillings ; partridges are thirteen shillings and
four pence a piece; wild geese, twenty-six shillings and eight
pence, a picce ; plovers, ten shillings a brace ; while woodcocks
are only eight shillings a picce, the same price as ptarmigan.
Whatever may have happened before, we may venture to say,
that so rich a bill of fare has never been produced in Scotland.
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in these degenerate days, upon any one occasion either of mourn-
ning or of feasting. The records of the pantry, the wine cellar,
the ale cellar, the larder, and the * pettie larder™—which last was
composed of cheese, butter, eggs, candles, herrings, spices, and
confectionery, are all minutely kept ; and the great abundance
and variety considered, we are not surprised to find that it took
eight weeks to * accomplish™ this lordly consignment of earth to
earth, and the subsequent “ sattling of my Lord’s affairs.” The
“ claret wine,” and the * white wine” is reckoned by puncheons ;
and there could hardly have been a single tear for every bucket of
“Easter Ale” withwhich the stately castle of Kincardine appears
to have been inundated, when the last Earl of Montrose who
bore that title at his decease, was gathered to his fathers in
the mausoleum of Aberuthven.

¢ Absumet heeres Cacuba dignior,
Servata centum clavibus, et mero
Tinget pavimentum superbo
Pontificum potiore ccenis.”

¢ Then shall thy greater heir discharge
And set the imprisoned casks at large,
And dye the floor with wine,
So rich and precious, not the feasts
Of Pontiffes cheer their ravished guests
With liquor so divine.”
Fraxcis.
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CHAPTER IIIL

COLLEGE LIFE OF MONTROSE, AT THE UNIVERSITY OF ST ANDREWS, AFTER
THE DEATH OF HIS FATHER.—HIS8 OCCUPATIONS AT HOME.—HIS8 EDU-
CATION AND HABITS CONTRASTED WITH MR MACAULAY'S PICTURE OF
THOSE OF ENGLISH GENTLEMEN OF THE SAME PERIOD.—MARRIAGE OF
HIS BISTER LADY DOROTHEA.—HIS ALARMING ILLNESS AT COLLEGE.—
MODE AND MEANS OF LIVING CONTRASTED WITH MR MACAULAY'S IDEA
OF S8COTLAND AT THE PERIOD.

ON the 8th of January 1627, the young Earl of Montrose
rode from Kincardine to Kilbryde. So says the circumstan-
tial record of the Dyet of the Burial. Kilbryde Castle in
Perthshire, an ancient seat of the Campbells, was that in
which the conqueror of the clan made his first appearance
_ from home, after succeeding to his Earldom. This, however,
was only a temporary excursion ; for he returned forthwith,
and commenced another dyet at his own castle in Strathearn.
Among these family papers, we find ¢ the dyet and ordinary
expenses of my Lord’s house, beginning on Monday the 8th of
January 1627, to Tuesday the 23d of January, when his Lord-
ship dined in Kincardine, and rode to St Andrews ; his Lord-
ship being accompanied the said space with Braco, Inchbrakie,
and sundry of his Lordship’s friends.” Sir William Graham of
Braco, only brother of the late Earl, appears to have been active
in the management of his nephew’s household affairs at this
. time. While Inchbrakie is looking after the young Lord’s
books, Braco is paying the baker’s bills incurred by the de-
ceased to Robert Henrison, baker in Stirling, for ¢ furnishing
his Lordship’s houses in Kincardine and Garscuib™ with flour,
amounting to an hundred and five pounds Scots.

The discovery of these domestic accounts afforded the first
intimation, in modern times, of Montrose having been educated
at the college of St Andrews. As appears by the above, * his
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were feasted at James Brown’s, no doubt a recherché restaura-
teur of the day, and the cost of this service dinner was eight
pounds ten shillings. There was also “ given to Claverhouse,
the day of my Lord’s service, ane pen of gold, to take instruments
with—fifty-three shillings and four pence:” Mr John Rollok is
paid twenty-six pounds thirteen shillings and four pence, for
having drawn the act of curatory. The same amount of fee
18 bestowed upon Mr Thomas Hope, with the addition of three
pounds six shillings and eight pence * to his man:” And * the
keeper of the Tollboith door,”—that Tolbooth which, after a
few stormy years, was to be surmounted by the hero’s head—
obtains a gratuity of twenty-four shillipgs.

Nor was the largesse of this noble and knightly youth omit-
ted at home. His young sister, Lady Dorothea, obtains from
him a gratuity of precisely the amount of the Advocate’s fee,
namely, ¢ to the Lady Dorathie, at my Lord's direction, twenty-
six pounds thirteen shillings and fourpence;” and moreover,
“ at my Lord’s direction, to ke nurse, and the servants in his
Lordship’s sister’s (Lady Napier), six pounds thirteen shillings
and four pence ; item, to the coachman, three pounds six shillings
and eight pence.” !

Montrose's progress, on his return to St Andrews at this
time, in the month of April 1627, is indicated by the sums
noted for freight at the Queensferry and the water of Cramond,
his supper and breakfast at Burntisland, and the expenses for ex-
tra horses with which Lady Napier had accommodated him, in
addition to his own,* when my Lord went back to Sanctandrois.”

In the following month of July, again he has holidays. The
accounts of Laurence Graham, factor of Kincardine, bear, that
there was  delivered by John Graham, to my Lord’s Regent in
Sanctandrois, now when my Lord left the College upon the 13th
day of July 1627,—thirty-three pounds six shillings and eight
pence;” and at the same time there is  given for a saddle to
my Lord, with the covering, workmanship, and girths, seven
pounds fifteen shillings.” He departs with eclat, for the sum
of six pounds eleven shillings is disposed of to the porter at

1 All these accounts are of course in money Scots. The same sums in Sterling
money would be twelve times more in value.
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even at the commencement of the seventeenth century, Scot-
land, so poor, and so despised, was a century in advance.
“ The heir of an estate,” says Mr Macaulay, in his History of
England, “ often passed his boyhood and youth at the seat of
his family, with no better tutors than grooms and gamekeepers,
and scarce attained learning enough to sign his name to a mit-
timus. If he went to school and to college, he generally returned
before he was twenty to the seclusion of the old hall, and there,
unless his mind were very happily oonstituted by nature, soon
forgot his academical pursuits in rural business and pleasures.
His chief serious employment was the care of his property. He
examined samples of grain, handled pigs, and on market-days
made bargains over a tankard with drovers and hop merchants.
His chief pleasures were commonly derived from field sports,
and from an unrefined sensuality.”

Of a passion for field sports we cannot acquit the young
Montrose. But by whatever * unrefined sensuality™ the landed
gentry of England, in the seventeenth century, were character-
ised, we can detect no symptoms of it, either in the college life
or domestie habits of our hero, and his associates. In 1658,
Saintserf, who knew him intimately, described him, when pur-
suing his great career, in terms which induce us to believe that
the boy was a faithful index to the man. * Your glorious
father,” he says, (addressing the second Marquis),  whose
spirit was so eminent, for speculation and for practice, that his
Camp was an Academy, admirably replenished with discourses
of the best and deepest sciences, whose several parts were
strongly held up, under him the head, by those knowing, noble
souls, the Earls of Kinnoul and Airley, the Lords Gordon,
Ogilvy, Napier, and Maderty, and the two famous Spotis-
woodes, Sir Robert and his nephew. This I am bold to men-
tion, because such noble discourses banished from his quarters
all obscene and scurrilous language, with all those offensive
satirical reflections, which now are the only current wit among
us; and if any such peeped forth in his presence, his severe
looks told the speaker it was unwelcome ; nor did this proceed
from a narrowness in his heart, being, to all who knew him, one
of the most munificent, as well as magnificent personages in the
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the West Kirk of Edinburgh, * for the testimoniul of that
church before the marriage of my Lord’s sister; moreover, to
the servants of my Lord Napier's house, at my Lord’s departing
after his sister'’s marriage;” and finally, * for Mr William
Struther’s Meditations.” The items of spurs, hunting-cap, and
bowstrings, were likely to interfere somewhat with Montrose’s
study of the meditations of that pious worthy, whom, in 1660,
we find thus characterised by the covenanting Baillie :—* Mr
William Struthers, born in our town, long chicf minister of
Edinburgh, I dare say the most eloquent and gracious preacher
that ever yet lived in Scotland.”

Thus was disposed of the Lady Dorothea Graham, to whom
only ten years of married life were vouchsafed. Her untimely
death is recorded by the Lord Lyon, Sir James Balfour, in his
Annals :—* The 16 of May, this year 1638, died Lady Dorothea
Graham, third daughter to John Earl of Montrose, and wife to
Sir James Rollock of Duncruib, knight, Perthshire ; and by him
had no issue : She was solemnly interred at the Abbey Church
of Holyrood House, the 8th of June this same year.”

Immediately after the ceremonial of her marriage, we find
Lady Dorothea signing papers at Carnock, the seat of George
Bruce, (father of the first two Earls of Kincardine), in the
county of Fife. To that goodly dwelling and a rich, the mar-
riage party had adjourned, including our hero, who remained
there until the second of May. Some festivities appear to have
been got up for the occasion. Montrose arrives at Carnock,
with a retinue of servants and horses, on the last day of April ;
and the mood of his mind, and the tone of the merry meeting,
i8 curiously indicated by the item of forty-six shillings * given
to the drummer and piper of Stirling, who came to Carnock at
my Lord’s being there.” Upon the 2d of May, he takes horse
from Carnock, bestowing largely upon the servants at his de-
parture ; with a special gratuity of three pounds * to the Lady
Carnock’s nurse,” and twelve shillings to another * piper, at my
Lord’s departing.”

The young cavalier, ever in the saddle, now rides to Stirling,
from whence he sends back two horses to Carnock, which he
had borrowed from the bridegroom there, to aid his retinue.
On the 4th of May he attends the parish church of his own
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‘ given, at my Lord’s direction, to ane Hungarian poet, who
made some verses to my Lord, fifty-eight shillings.” Unfortu-
nately these verses are not recorded. It would be interesting
to know how and in what terms the Hungarian poet lauded the
future hero when in his sixteenth year. Upon another occasion
we find him bestowing eighteen shillings upon * ane rymer
called Croter.” No doubt fifty-eight shillings scofs amounted
to a trifle less than five shillings sterling. But when we discover
twelve shillings (i. e. one shilling sterling) as the cost of a leg’
of mutton to be served at my Lord’s table, we are cheered by
the reflection that the hungry poet had five legs of mutton for
his guerdon.

On the 19th of May our hero is hard at golf on the Links of
St Andrews; but the 24th of that same month is noted as “ the
beginning of my Lord’s sickness.” For the last month the boy
had been feasting like an Alderman, and riding like an Arab.
The scene changes, and now he is disclosed to us in a sick cham-
ber, passing through the phases of an alarming illness to luxurious
convalescence, and cherished with various delicacies, bespeaking
the well-cared for invalid; such as, chickens, jelly,sack and sugar,
and possets, the daily purveyor of the same being ‘ James
Pett’s dochter,”—that is to say, the daughter of the man who
provided him with golf-clubs and bows. But the sick youth
was not easily restored. On the 28th, Mr John Lambye be-
comes seriously alarmed, and goes in person to Dundee to fetch
“ Doctor Maal.” For several days this medical gentleman was
in close attendance. On the 30th of May, there is paid to him
a fee of twenty-six pounds, thirteen shillings and fourpence, and
immediately follows, as if it had been a prescription, ‘ Item,
penult of May, to the post for bringing a chess-board from Edin- .
burgh, six shillings.” He is still in attendance on the 3d of
June, for, of that date, is noted the expense of * Doctor Maal’s
dyets,” and another fee to him of thirteen pounds, six shillings
and eight pence. The case assumes a graver aspect. A barber
is sent for, who is required “to take off my Lord's hairs,”—
those loyal locks of redundant auburn, which, even in his dying
hour, he petted. Doctor Maal fceling unequal to the case,
alone, calls in the aid of * Doctor Arnot,” a leech, it would
seem, of a loftier grade, as the fee to him is eighty pounds, be-
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among the barons, bore witness to the slow march of improve-
ment and civilization there. The labouring classes, indeed, were
poorly lodged and coarsely fed,—thousands are worse off at
this day. But those who rely upon the brilliant generalizations
of this popular and dramatic historian, and suppose that they
have here the true characteristics, of an age and country, em-
balmed in a single antithesis, will be misled. Whoso regards
such generalizations as oracular truths, and attempts to elon-
gate them, like the precious web from the fairy’s nut-shell, or to
sound the depths and sources of these sparkling productions,
will sometimes find he has killed the bird that laid the golden
egg. Wae take the instances upon which our historian so point-
edly perils his proposition. Buchanan, who wrote Latin verses
like Vida, might have dated his poetry from a palace: and as
for his food, many were the regal tit-bits, the savoury crumbs
of pasties and preserves, the savoy-amber, the pistache-amber,
and the fennell, that adhered to the liquorish moustache of the
royal dominie. Then the discoverer of the Logarithms, the father
of Montrose’s guardian Lord Napier, who indeed only died within
the lifetime of our hero, his dwellings—for he had many—and,
doubtless, the food at his command, were of the same substantial
and luxurious order, as that through which we are now tracing
the boyhood of the great Marquis. Young Montrose's head
quarters at Edinburgh, in which we find every symptom of his
having enjoyed comfort, good cheer, and harmless revelry,
were,—besides Lord Napier's town mansion, with its « close,”
within the precincts of Holyroodhouse,—the stately and com-
modious old tower of Merchiston, the seat of the barony, at the
south-west entrance to the city; a dwelling which, for genera-
tions before the time of the philosopher, had been something
very different from those of * the wretched Icelanders of our
time.” In the sixteenth century, we have distinct records of
the out-houses, the granges, and the barns, which formed the
outworks of the Castle of Merchiston, all indicative of a great
and more than substantial dwelling. The laird of the Loga-
rithms dwelt within walls which withstood many a siege during
the “ King and Queen’s wars.” That ancient castle was one of
the happy homes of Montrose’s youth, who was five years of age
before the * marvellous Merchiston™ died. And to that dwel-
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beards, that for generations wagged merrily in those old halls,
had grown out of the best of beef, and * Ester ale,” besides
“ wild meat,” ¢ comfits,” and “ chopins of claret wyne,”—long
before the time when, says Mr Macaulay, the intellectual im-
mortality of Scotland dwelt in Icelandish caves, and fed on

garbage.

and he adds, “ one acre used this way will feed twice as many cattle as otherwise ;
and the kine fed thereon will yield twice us much milk as they that are fed on un-
salted grass. Every year thereafter, for the space of five years, the said parks will
fold more cattle, and they be better fed ; and then, if you please to till and sow the
said parks for the space of four years thereafter, there will be more corn and bear
graw than may, in a manner, stand thereupon. Let the dikes stand notwithstand-
ing the tilling thereof,” &c.

This was promulgated by the Laird of Merchiston, in 1598, prior to King James's
accession in England. There are no symptoms of savage life in this.
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gives a supper, the sum of six pounds three shillings being dis-
bursed for * the wine and comfits after the supper given by my
Lord to the rest of the archers.”

To those who take interest in the ancient sports of St An-
drews, archery and golf, the fact, hitherto unknown, will be ac-
ceptable, that a most enthusiastic promoter of those still ap-
proved exercises, was the great Montrose. The fact acquires
additional interest when compared with a passage in a letter
from the Queen of Bohemia, sister of Charles the First, which
will find its place in the progress of our story. In the month
of August 1649, twenty-one years later than the period we are
now recording, and within a twelvemonth of his death, while he
held a commission as plenipotentiary from Charles II. to the
foreign States, her Majesty, who had conceived a great affec-
tion for him, writes in these terms: * We have nothing to do
but to walk, and shoot: I am grown a good archer, to shoot
with my Lord Kinnoul: If your office will suffer it, I hope you
will come and help us to shoot.” Montrose had retained
throughout his life the reputation of a good archer, which, no
doubt, he had acquired at the College of St Andrews.

In the Old College there, three antique silver arrows, with
many silver medals attached, are still preserved, and exhibited
to the curious. The medals are all dated, and bear the name,
and generally some armorial insignia of the prize-holder. The
oldest date upon any of the thirty-nine medals attached to what
appears to be the most ancient arrow, is 1618 ; nine years before
Montrose entered the University. The latest date, upon that
arrow, within his time, is 1628. Of this last date, however,
there is only one prize-holder recorded, ¢ D. Forrester.” The
next medal, in order of time, bears the comparatively modern
date, 1675.

It seemed remarkable that no such signal of Montrose’s suc-
cess was to be discovered among the numcrous trophies attached
to the oldest arrow, some of the medals being dated within the
time when he was much addicted to archery at College, and had
been the successful competitor upon more occasions than one.
Among the curious relics of the Old College of St Andrews,
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arms, which is there properly differenced, marks him a cadet of
Inchbrakie, and of Montrose. But the crest, and the motto,
tell a tale which even Nisbet,—who, in his great Institute
of Scottish heraldry, records the arms of this branch of the
Graham,—had not read. ¢ Mungo Graham of Gorthy,” says
Nisbet, ¢ descended of Inchbrakie, or, three roses within a bor-
dure gules, on a chief sable, as many escalops of the field ; crest,
two arms, issuing from a cloud, erect, and lifting up a man’s
skull encircled with two branches of a palm tree, and, over the
head a Marquis’s coronet,—motto, Sepulto viresco.” Precisely
coinciding with the above official register, are the armorial bear-
ings engraved on the medal of the next Graham who gained the
silver arrow at St Andrews, after the time of Montrose. But
why the “ man’s skull,” encircled with a wreath of palm, crowned
with the coronet of a Marquis, and speaking of a deathless
fame? * There was a scaffold,” says the contemporary histo-
rian of the kirk, recording the distasteful events of the Restora-
tion,—* there was a scaffold raised for taking down his head with
safety, and no little reverence was given to that relic ; there's
some bowing—some kneeling—some kissing it ; and so it was
buried with the body: but it was observed, in the meantime,
that the laird of Gorthie—the gentleman who took the head from
the iron spike upon which it was fixt—died within some few
hours.™?

The successor of this scion of the hero’s house, had perpetu-
ated, in his heraldic devices, his loyal ancestor's last act of de-
votion to their illustrious chief; and the sad story came, acci-
dentally, to be attached to the very arrow for which Montrose
had so frequently contested, about sixty years before.

Montrose appears to have been the leading patron of this
college pastime; which, indeed, had not as yet altogether lost
its military importance. It is he who generally bears the ex-
pense “to the drummer of St Andrews proclaiming the silver
arrow to be shot for, twelve shillings.” This was nearly equi-
valent to two shoulders of mutton; for we find noted, on the 9th
of July 1629, “ my Lord being to produce the silver arrow, for
ane shoulder of mutton to his dreakfast, six shillings and eight-

! Kirkton,
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the loss being put for payment of the wine that came from
Dundee, my Lord bearing part of Reyres’s laying by head,
thirty six shillings ; item 14th August, my Lord being at the
archerie at Montrois, given to the poor in the links and town,
six shillings.”

This vigorous prosecution of archery was no less vigorously
diversified with golfing, tennis, hunting, and hawking. A week
rarely passes throughout which we do not discover the young
collegian distributing liberally, one day “ to a boy carrying my
Lord’s quiver and bows that day,” and another, ‘“to the boy
who carried my Lord's clubs to the field.” Sometimes, when
on his return to St Andrews from Edinburgh, he pauses a day
at Leith, where we find him expending ten shillings * for two
golf balls, my Lord going to the golf there,” and also sixteen
shillings * for balls in the tennis court of Leith.” He appears
to have possessed an establishment of hawks, and doubtless was
fond of the ancient and romantic sport. His kinsmen Graham
of Balgowan, and Graham of Fintrie, and also the Laird of
Grange, at various times presented him with hawks of high de-
gree, which are gratefully received, and most lustily fed. There
is noted the expense of laying with turfs the floor of the place
where he kept them. Immediately following the item of six
shillings and eight pence “ for some mutton for my Lord's break-
fast,” is that of twelve shillings “ for three fowls for my Lord’s
halk ;" and “to the Oeconomus' for beef to the halk, twenty
shillings.” Moreover, he receives into his establishment *“ane
falconer recommended to my Lord by my Lord Colvill,”—of
Culross, namely, whose father and he were sisters’ children.

It is recorded of Montrose by one who knew him intimately,
and who, to use his own words, “ had the honour of employment
under his command both at home and abroad,”? that he dis-
played a “singular grace in riding.” Accordingly, we can trace
Lady Margaret Erskine, second daughter of James sixth, Earl of Buchan, was

married to Montrose’s relative, Sir James Graham, brother of the Earl of Monteith
and Airth. They had a daughter, who married Walter Graham of Gartur.

1 The Oeconome, or Steward of the college.
? Saintserf.
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friendly and familiar terms. Probably there were others who
happen not to be mentioned in these domestic papers. On a
hunting morning in May, we discover him at breakfast with the
first above named, Lord Lindsay of the Byres, who so unfairly
obtained the Earldom of Crawford, and whose sinister conversa-
tions with Montrose, in 1640, were among the first circumstances
that alarmed his loyalty, and roused his indignation against the
dangerous duplicity of the prime Covenanters. Lord Sinclair
was he whom they so unworthly commissioned, in 1641, to break
open his private repositories, at Old Montrose, Mugdock, and
Kincardine, in search of materials to found a plausible accusa-
tion against him, an act of which Lord Sinclair lived to be
ashamed. The same day that he hunts with Lord Lindsay, we
find him visiting, by invitation, another hero of the troubles who,
within a few years afterwards, would as soon have thought of
inviting a fire-brand into his house :—* Item, the 9th of May
1629 (my Lord going to hunting with my Lord Lindsay), that
day, my Lord being invited by Sir Thomas Hoppe to his house,
given to the mason thereof, five pounds, sixteen shillings.™

Another amusement of our hero's while at college, was Cupar
races, & name yet familiar to us as indicating a fashionable resort
in modern days, for good sport, and social enjoyment. In the
month of August 1628 he pays forty-eight shillings, *‘for the
hire of two horses, one to follow my Lord when the noblemen
were in St Andrews before Cupar races, the other on the day of
the race.”—* Item, to James Pett’s dochter, for furnishing my
Lord’s chamber, and for his breakfast and supper, the day he
went to Cupar race, three pounds ten shillings.” We find him
also attending these races in the spring of the following year.
“ My Lord's loss at billiards,” too, is sometimes noted.

‘Woe shall be forgiven for lingering on these and other minute
illustrations of the college life of Montrose, trifles though they
be. It is the period of his life, hitherto an absolute blank in
his biography, when for a few fleeting years, he was happy and
joyous, without a shadow on his path. No suspicion of the
coming “ cloud in the North,” crossed his ardent mind; and

! The Lord Advocate was building a fine house.
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‘¢ Next crown the bowl full
With gentle lamb’s wool,
And sugar, and nutmeg, and ginger,
‘With store of ale too,—
And this ye must do,
To make the wassail a swinger.”

Montrose had come from St Andrews upon this occasion, to
bring in the new year, 1629, at Balcarres ; where having enjoyed
himself for three days, he returned to his college. There are
various indications, throughout these domestic records, that he
delighted in Christmas gambols and mummery ; and probably
when he became a lord of the Covenanting Tables, it was not
the firat occasion of his being * Lord of misrule.” Besides the
town drummers and piperers, whom he seems to have kept in
pay throughout the districts of Scotland which he frequented,
upon different occasions he is paying minstrels, violers, morrice-
dancers, and jugglers; and once at Cumbernauld, the future
scene of his famous bond against the covenant, there is ex-
pended severr pounds twelve shillings * for gloves, masks, and
carquans, to my Lord’s sisters.” The carquan, or carkanet,
was a jewelled necklace, and reminds us of Herrick’s gentle
" bribe :—
¢ T'll give thee chains and carkanets,

Of primroses and violets,

If thou wilt love and live with me.”

His sisters engaged no small share of his attention and affec-
tion—a disposition which we discover evincing itself even when
he had become involved in the vortex of the Troubles. The
vacations of his college life were generally spent in their com-
pany; and he used to entertain them at such times with pleasant
excursions, or f4tes champetres, amid the romantic scenery of his
own lordly domains.

In the month of October 1628, the young chief had convened
a great gathering of his friends and relations in his castle of
Kincardine, and many loads of coals were ordered for the
happy house-warming. Thereafter follows an account of “ My
Lord of Montrose, his Lordship’s dyet and ordinary expenses,
coming from Braco to Drumfad, on Tuesday at even, the 28th
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lings. All this argues the absence of Lord Napier and his
. family from Edinburgh at the time. Probably they were at
Merchiston Castle in the vicinity, as there are large gratuities
bestowed upon “ my Lord Neper's cocheman, and footman.”
On his arrival in Edinburgh, the young cavalier * dights him
in array.” He is busy buying combs and shoes and boots.
With regard to the latter, a tight fit apparently, he bestows
nine shillings of * drink-silver to the boy that put them on.”
Three pounds are expended “ for a pair of gilt spurs to my
Lord ;” and twenty shillings for ‘ dickting his sword.” Of the
same date, 9th March 1629, twenty-four shillings is bestowed
upon *“ my Lord Chancellor's coachman, for driving the coach
with my Lord to my Lord Monteith's lodging.”

The dignitary who compliments the noble youth with his
equipage, to convey him to the lodging of the Lord Justice-
General, was Viscount Duplin, created Farl of Kinnoul in
1633, as peremptory and cross-grained an old carle as ever
growled under gout. Montrose’s guardian, Lord Napier, who
knew the Chancellor intimately, and had some curious and
even furious scenes with him relative to the King’s projected
progress to Scotland, in this very year, declares that, at the
Scottish council board where they sat together, * his manner
was to interrupt all men when he was disposed to speak, and
" the King too.” He was predecessor of the Lord Kinnoul who,
in 1650, perished of fatigue and hunger in the wilds of Assynt,
Montrose’s sole companion in that hopeless flight. The Earl
of Monteith, too, is closely connected with the history of our
hero. William Graham, Earl of Monteith, Strathern, and
Airth, he who so rashly boasted of having in his veins * the
reddest blood of Scotland,” was a cadet of Montrose. When
vigited as abote by his young chief in 1629, he was in the full
enjoyment of royal favour, Justice-General of Scotland, Presi-
dent of the Privy Council, and an Extraordinary Lord of Ses-
sion. His son was that gallant young Lord Kilpont, whom
Stewart of Ardvoirlich so basely assassinated in the camp of
Montrose, after the battle of Perth, in 1644.

There is something which attracts the fancy in Montrose's
extra finery upon this occasion,—the gilded spurs and the
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corn and straw,” the charge is seven shillings and eight pence ;
while at Burntisland it is one shilling more.

Re-established at St Andrews, on the 13th of March 1629,
the gallant Graham betakes himself again to cards, chess, bil-
liards, hunting, hawking, archery, golfing, and we must add
shooting, as there are various items relating to his ‘ brazen
gun,” and * powder and lcad for my Lord.” Besides these en-
grossing sports and pastimes, other occupations break in upon
his studies. On the 30th of March, two additional horses are
hired, *“ my Lord going to Master William Erskine, his burial ;”
which melancholy occasion seoms also to have cost him a suit
of clothes. On the 22d of June, three hired horses are in re-
quisition, “my Lord being invited to Darsay, by the Arch-
bishop of St Andrews.” This was the father of Montrose's de-
voted friend in after life, Sir Robert Spottiswoode, whom he
used to address as the * good President,” the amiable and ac-
complished head of the Court of Session in Scotland, inhumanly
executed at St Andrews, the scene of his father's greatness, by
the clerical faction in 1646. When the riots against the Ser-
vice-book, in 1637, were becoming organized into a war of ex-
termination against the Bishops, the first appearance of young
Montrose at the seditious meetings was particularly noted by
them. ‘ Yea,” says Guthrie, “ when the Bishops heard that
he was come there to join, they were somewhat affrighted, hav-
ing that esteem of his parts, that they thought it time to pre-
pare for a storm when he engaged.” While a student at St
Andrews, he frequently visited at Darsy, the seat of the Arch-
bishop, which probably had founded his reputation with the
venerable Primate, one of the earliest victims of the Covenant.

It is to be regretted that these household accounts so slightly
illustrate his literary habits at this time. The luxurious com-
mand of books, which every college youth now enjoys, whether
he reads or not, was in those days not attainable by the weal-
thiest student. That Montrose had “ a cabinet” of books, and

even travelled with a pet folio, is an interesting fact very acei-

dentally preserved to us. In 1627, the first year of his college
life, twenty pounds are expended in books for him, of which the

-
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mitted to his private reading and criticism, the manuscript of a
poem thus alarmingly entitled :—* The gushing tears of godly
sorrow, containing the causes, conditions, and remedies of sin,
depending mainly upon contrition and confession; and they
seconded with sacred and comfortable passages, under the
mourning canopy of tears and repentance.” A strange poem
this, to be submitted for the private perusal of a young cavalier !
It is a dreary and interminable howl, redeemed here and there
by some nervous verses, amid a vast preponderance of puritanical
chaff. But the dedication to our hero, when the poem came to
be published in 1640, may serve to solve the problem :—* My
humble request pleads the continuance of your favour, that as
your late renowned grandfather, and father, were unto me both
friendly and favourable, proceeding from their great goodness
not my deserts, so I expect the same from your tender bounty,
which hitherto, beyond my merit, hath been exceeding kindly
manifested. For the which my praise and prayers, the two sis-
ters of mine oblation, rest solidly ingenochiated at the feet of
your conspicuous clemency. This present work, in ¢ts secret in-
Jancy, was both seen and perused by your Lordship ; but now,
enlarged, polished, ‘and publisked,” &ec.

Throughout the year 1629 there are two items for binding
the young Lord’s books :—¢ Item, for binding Buchanan’s
Works to my Lord, twelve shillings.”—* Item, for binding A
genis, twenty-two shillings.” By Argenis must be meant that
historical, political, and allegorical romance, which was written
in Latin by John Barclay, and first translated into English, at
the command of Charles 1., in 1628. Under cover of the loves
of Poliarchus and Argenis, this once celebrated production, in-
culcates, with unmerciful prolixity, principles and maxims of
monarchical government, which probably had induced his Ma-
jesty to patronize the translation. Fatiguing though it be to
the minds of modern readers, it was regarded in its own time
as a paragon of wit and wisdom ; and there is something so ro-
mantic, and so dramatic in the opening scene, that it could not
well fail to arrest the attention of such a genius as young Mon-
trose, and allure him onwards to the political dissertations,
which are the main object of the work : —

«“ Ag yet the world had not adored Rome: As yet the ocean
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Alas, for the Meditationes Gerardi, and the meditations of the
gifted Maister William Struthers, and “ the gushing tears of
godly sorrow,” with such an introduction as this, to the prin-

! ciples of monarchical government, under the eyes of the gallant
Graham, when seventeen years of age.

We thus find that Montrose had been introduced to the
ancient languages through the works of Xenophon, Sencca,
Buchanan, and Barclay. But there is further evidence that he
made companions of the classics, and inflamed his heroic genius
with their themes. The youth who, under every temptation of
rank and fortune, to withdraw his mind from an ardent desire
for other celebrity, could study the characters of Plutarch’s
heroes with a determination to emulate their fame, evinced a
genius of no ordinary stamp. Alexander is said to have pos-
sessed a copy of the Iliad corrected by Aristotle, which he pre-
served in a precious casket found among the spoils of Darius.
This he used to place under his pillow with his sword. In allu-
sion to an anecdote he had derived from Plutarch, Montrose
wrote this verse upon his copy of Lucan :—

As Macedo his Homer, I'll thee still,

Lucan, esteem as my most precious gem ;
And, though my fortune second not my will,
That I may witness to the world the same,
Yet, if she would but smile even so on me,
‘My mind desires as his, and soars as hie.

In like manner, he had noted upon a leaf of Casar's Com-
mentaries :—

Though Ceesar’s paragon I cannot be,
Yet shall T soar in thoughts as high as he.

But the great prototype of his youthful emulation was the
Macedonian hero. His copy of Quintus Curtius also displayed
this evidence of it, penned by himself :—

As Philip’s noble son did still disdain
All but the dear applause of merited fame,

And nothing harboured in that lofty brain
But how to conquer an eternal name ;

So, great attempts, heroic ventures, shall
Advance my fortune, or renown my fall.
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and above constant and liberal donations ¢ to the poor that
week at the Kirk,” and, “at the Kirk, given to the brod,” ge-
nerally from six to twelve shillings at a time. We discover him
bestowing alms upon the * poor at the gate,” of Kinnaird,
Morphie, Glammis, Claverhouse, the Mains, &c. ; as if such were
his constant habit, ere partaking of the hospitality within. He
never “ takes horse,” or “loups on,” or dismounts, or goes * to
the fields,” or visits a town, or pauses at * his chamber door,”
or pursues his journey along the highway, without distributing
& shower of small coin, the most single hearted of all charities,
which, in return for no inconsiderable drain upon his purse,
must have heaped upon his youthful head many a Christian
blessing, to countervail the curses of the Kirk. Sometimes
individual charities are particularized :—* Item, the second day
of July, 1629, to ane auld man called James Gellerd, and his
wife, begging from my Lord at his chamber, twelve shillings.”
Upon otheroccasions—*Item, to an dumb woman, fourshillings.”
—* Item, to ane honest man who came to my Lord on his way .
from Carnock to Cumbernauld, six shillings.” And not the
least interesting of these occasions, when we consider the sub-
sequent ties between them,—‘some poor Irishe women at the
gate of Braco,” and—* ane Iriske man begging at the gate of
Glammis”—are all successful appeals to his charity. Nor must
we omit an instance with which he was not apt to be assailed
in after life—‘‘Item, to ane poor man who brought ane testimonie
from the Kirk, seventeen shillings.”

Another trait of the habits of this ¢ tassel-gentle,” was his
love of the garden. While the walls of his chamber were be-
decked with bows and other insignia of the green-wood craft,
his table was adorned with flowers from the college garden,
or presented to him by friends. Next to the nurses of the
hospitable mansions which he visited as a guest, the gardeners
came in for a share of his liberality, and the gardener of the
college, who frequently supplied him with nosegays, experienced
his bounty in proportion. A constant attendant at the Kirk, on
Sundays, and preaching days, where he never forgot the poor,
his appearance there, bouquet in breast, must have been hailed
with satisfaction, unalloyed by any classic fear of the Danaos,
at every country “ Kirk brod,” where he happened to make
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mending the glass-work, and the glass in windows of Ald Mon-
trois, in August 1629 years, at direction of the laird of Morphie,
six pounds, three shillings, and four pence: Paid, at direction,
to the slaters, called John Sires, and Alexander Talbertt, for
mending all the slate-work of Ald Montrois ; except the tower,
the bake-house, the brew-house, and the kitchen; which they
refused, until the same be tirrit first, before they take it in hand :
So they mended the great house, the chambers on the south
side of the close, the porter-lodge, the garden chamber, and the
girnel house, for the sum of seven pounds, thirteen shillings, and
four pence.”

The above is from an account “fitted and subscribed at
Drumfad, the 13th day of October 1629,” and thus attested by
Montrose, his chamberlain, and three of his curators, in the
month immediately preceding the noble minor’s marriage.
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By this it appears that the marriage jaunt of this very young
couple, was no farther than from the Kirk of Kinnaird, which
was within the grounds, to the castle. But scarcely had “ the
minstrels” ceased to serenade them, when we find Montrose at
his clubs and balls again. On the ninth day after his marriage
there is a sum paid “ to ane going to St Andrews for clubs and
balls to my Lord ;" and also for * sax new clubs, and dressing
some auld anes, and for balls.” Immediately follows another
payment, “ my Lord being in Montrose at golf, for stabling the
horse.”

Among the last items of these interesting accounts—which
are brought to a close, in so far at least as regards his College
life, by his settlement at Kinnaird—there is one, indicating his
removal from St Andrews, which cannot fail to arrest the atten-
tion :—* Item, given to the minister, Mr George Wyshart, his
servants, who had kept and transported the furniture and trunks,
twenty-four shillings.” 1t was destined that the friendship here
commenced between the then minister of St Andrews, and this
distinguished youth, was to become matter of history. The
clagsic and far-famed record which Montrose embraced with
fervour on the scaffold, as adding dignity to his death, was the
work of this same George Wishart, upon whose tomb in Holy-
rood the immortalizing word is Montrose ! In the ruined Chapel
there, the Latin inscription on the tomb-stone of the Bishop of
Edinburgh is still legible; and the concluding couplet refers to
his Latin Commentaries on the loyal carcer of this young stu-
dent, whose trunks and furniture used to be consigned to his
care :—

* Gestaque Mont-Rosei, Latio celebrata cothurno,
Quantula, proh, tanti sunt monumenta viri.”

The marriage-contract, still extant among the Montrose
archives, is dated at Kinnaird, 10th November 1629 ; and there
can be no doubt that the tender age of the married parties had
occasioned this obligation on the part of Lord Carnegie,—
“To entertain and sustain in house with himself, honourably,.
the saids noble Earl and Mistress Magdalene Carnegie,! his

! Mistress was the style of gentle maidenhood in those days, which it is not now.
In fact, the terms Mistrest and Miss have changed places.
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of his curators,” and the Earl of Perth, dated at Edinburgh
22d October 1632, proves that-he was there at the time, and
still a minor. In the Lord Lyon’s list of noblemen attending
the coronation of Charles I., which took place at Edinburgh in
the month of June 1633, the name of Montrose appears, fol-
lowed by the word ¢ absent;” and not, as in several other
instances, with the explanation  infra wtatem,” importing mi-
nority. From this may be inferred that he had attained majo-
rity about the time when the King arrived, but that, from some
unexplained cause, he was not present at the coronation. The
cause we shall endeavour to explain in the next chapter.
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earnestly recommends to the love and patronage of their Sove-
reign, the Viscount Duplin, Lord Carnegie, and others who ob-
tained a higher rank in the peerage upon that ooccasion, are
named by their inferior titles :—

¢ As for Lord Barons Lyndesay, and Cathcart,
Boyd, Rosse, and Yester, Forbes, pious heart,
Lord Viscount Duplin, Chancellor of my State,
With Marcheston, as good as now made great.”!

But the nobleman whom she recommends to the King with
the greatest ardour, and the highest eulogy, is the young Mon-
trose. The poet’s strain rises, too, as if he found the subject
inspiring ; and it is interesting to observe, that, had there been
displayed to him, by second sight, the future hero’s career in
arms, he need not have added a line to his eulogy :—

‘¢ As for that hopeful youth, the young Lord Graham,
James Earl of Montarose, whose warlike name
Sprung from redoubted worth, made manhood try
Their matchless deeds in unmatched chivalry,—

I do bequeath him to thy gracious love ;

Whose noble stock did ever faithful prove

To thine old-aged ancestors, and my Bounds

Were often freed from thraldom by their wounds ;2

Leaving their root, the stamp of fidele truth,

To be inherent in this noble youth :

Whose hearts, whose hands, whose swords, whose deeds, whose fame,
Made Mars for valour canonize the Graham.”

That he was about to see the world, was no reason why the
young Earl should omit the most favourable opportunity of be-
ing made known to his Sovereign,—who had already, in a very
pointed and substantial manner, recognised the succession of
the young head of the house of Graham. His subsequent mar-
riage, and the birth of two sons, were additional circumstances
to insure a favourable reception. Moreover, his father-in-law,
Lord Carnegie, was on the eve of being created Earl of South-
esk, at the approaching coronation; and Lord Napier was one
of four peers selected to support the canopy held over the mo-

! This refers to Lord Napier’s elevation to the peerage in 1627.
! Alluding to the tradition of ¢ Graham’s Dyke.”
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The instructions to the Lord Advocate, of the same date, are
yet more explicit a8 to the nature of the accusation, which was
no less than incest, accomplished by means of witcheraft. Then
follow these tempering mercies, addressed to the Lord Treasurer
for Scotland, also dated from Wanstead, 13th Sept. 1632 :—

“ Whereas we have given orders to our Advocate to pursue
the Laird of Luss for the crime of incest, alleged to have been
committed by him, though he can deserve no favour for himself,
in what the course of our laws can inflict upon him in his person
and estate, yet having compassion on tke suffering of his wife and
children, and of so ancient a family, our pleasure is, that if his
escheat, liferent, or lands, shall fall in our hands, in the dis-
pensing thereof you have a special care that no creditor of his
be defrauded of that which is justly due unto them ; and that
the maintenance of his wife and children, and the standing of
his house, may be provided for; he only suffering in his own
person all that by the course of our laws usually in the like case
may be imposed upon him: which seriously recommending unto
your care, we bid you farewell.”

The Lord Justice-General was Montrose’s relative, and a
cadet of his house. The Lord Advocate was his lawyer, and
on friendly terms with him. We have already traced him in
social converse with them both. It is scarcely to be doubted
that they would all be in painful communication on the subject
of these royal missives, which deeply involved the honour and
welfare of the noble family of Montrose. He himself was trans-
acting business in Edinburgh at the very time. The victim of
his brother-in-law’s infamous conduct was his young sister, Lady
Katherine Graham.

It has been already stated, that, on the death of Earl John,
his three unmarried daughters, Dorothea, Katherine, and Bea-
trix, were consigned to the care of their two elder married
sisters. Dorothea, as we have seen, was ere long happily mar-
ried to the future Lord Rollo, under the auspices of Lord and
Lady Napier. The next in order was Katherine, who seems to
have been younger than her brother, and was a mere child when
she fell within the fangs of her brother-in-law. He was under
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existence, or double consciousness, are usually puerile in the ex-
treme. At the most momentous crisis of the kingdom, when,
by a strange freak of those disjointed times, he, the King’s Ad-
vocate, was commissioned to fill the throne of the Assembly
which brought forth that monstrous birth the Solemn League
and Covenant, under his own auspices, his dreams, anxiously
recorded by himself, would have done little credit to any old
crone nodding at a dreary wake.

Shortly before the meeting of that Assembly, the Lord Ad-
voocate and Lord High Commissioner thus notes his nocturnal
visions :—

“ In the night preceding this 22 June 1643, after twelve
hours at night, and about two or three in the morning, I fell
in two dreams. By one I dreamt that all the night coverings on
my head were fallen off, and I sought and found them all, and
fastened them on again, azcept the red cloth, which I use upon it.
Item, after I awoke, I fell asleeping, and dreamt of new, that I
was at a marriage, and was clad in satin ; but do not remember
whose marriage it was. And when I awoke again, I called on
the name of the Lord, and promised submission to his holy will ;
whatever his Majesty should appoint for me or mine, the Lord
make me ready.”

‘ 24th June 1643. This night I thought that a tooth, which
was loose, fell out of my gums, and that I took it in my hand,
and kept it, thinking to have it set in again. And it seemed
to me 8o real, that when I awakened I thought it really true ;
and could scarcely believe it to be otherwise when I had awaken-
ed. These repeated dreams portend some calamity to me or
mine. But I have resolved to submit myself to my good Lord,
and to adore his providence, and the Lord give me his grace
to bear it patiently.”

* 25 June 1643. Sunday at night I dreamt that while I was
pulling on my left boot, both the tags of it broke. The Lord pre-
pare me.”

“ Dream accomplished 26th September 1643. Tuesday, in
the morning, both the tags of my left boot, while I was pulling it
on my alone, broke ; which I dreamt of before 25 June 1643.”

! Perhaps the Lord Advocate, teo, had a valet “ who was ane necromancer.”












86 LIFE OF MONTROSE.

Thomas Hope of Craighall, was no longer * his Majesty's Advo-
cate, forhis Majesty’sinterest.” He hadresigned the dishonoured
placein favour of Sir Archibald Johnston of Warriston, Procu-
rator of the Kirk, the demagogue par excellencs of the troubles,
who never ceased urging the Parliament, and urging the Kirk
to urge the Parliament, to have mercy upon no prisoner in any
way connected with the career of Montrose, and who never
ceased proclaiming that mercy was not an attribute of justice,
until it came to his own turn to be hanged.

In this state of affairs, Sir John Colquhoun of Luss again
ventures on the scene, with a feeling, doubtless, that his diaboli-
cal seduction of the sister of Montrose was now no hanging
matter, and a crime not difficult to atone.

This appears from the records of the Presbytery of Dumbar-
ton. On the 20th of April 1647, Colquhoun of Balvie, and
Colquhoun of Glens, present a petition to the Presbytery, in
these terms, that their hitherto fugitive brother was returned
like the prodigal son; that he had only just become aware
of the sentence of excommunication pronounced against him
“ when he was out of the country;” and that he now prayed that
“ gome of the drethern might confer with him thereanent.” Well
did the ¢ crafty and politic” Luss know the weak side of a
Covenanting Presbytery. His outlawry, for having fled from
justice—nay, the crime itself, was not his distress, and no longer
his dread. But the fact of lying under excommunication was, in
the year 1647, a serious and alarming predicament. The con-
ference for which he petitioned was granted. ¢ The Brethern™
were never slow to obey a summons of the kind. So peculiar a
case, indeed, promised a finer field-day for their inquisitorial
sctivity, than even the most minute disclosures of some of those
alleged liaisons, between the Devil and some toothless crone, for
which the Presbyteries of the Covenant, according to their own
records, had so curious a relish! The identity of the culprit,
and his crime, with what has been narrated before, is placed be-
yond all question by the report of this committee of conference.
On the 11th of May 1647, they report to the Presbytery, that
the Laird of Luss,  with many tears, did regret, and bemoan

! See the Presbytery Records of the period passim.

-’
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Colquhoun, who professed to him that it was the earnest desire
of the friends to have the marriage hastened : And, for their
repentance, for their fall before marriage, they did, before the
pulpit, acknowledge humbly their offence ; which he was con-
tent to accept, because there was no scandal of them in the
country ; nor knew he any thing of it : The Presbytery continue
(delay) their censure till their return from the Synod.” The
minister was afterwards ordered to be rebuked, in face of his
congregation, for this breach of order.

But the troubles of this unlucky clergyman of Luss did not
end here. Very soon afterwards, in 1648, as stated in the
same record, ¢ the Laird of Luss was married to ——— Baillie,
daughter of Lochend, without proclamation of bands, by Mr
Archibald M¢Lauchlane, minister of Luss ;” who, for that breach
of order was suspended and deposed. The matter came before
the General Assembly, ¢ who did not consider that the married
couple merited censure; but thought that the mother of the
lady (now married to Kilbirnie), should confess her guilt in her
own parish kirk.”?

It is sad to reflect on the probable fate of Lady Katherine
Graham, a daughter of one of the noblest houses in Scotland.

! Douglas, and other family historians, assert, that the Sir John Colquhoun of
-Luss who married Lady Lilias Graham, did not die until after the year 1654.
If this be accurate, then the Laird of Luss who was irregularly married to
Baillie in 1648,” is the same individual. But these writers also record, that the
Sir John Colquhoun of Luss who was the son of Sir John Colquhoun and Lady
Lilias Graham, married Margaret Baillie, sole heiress of Baillie of Lochend.
If this, on the other hand, be accurate, then Sir John, the outlaw, must have died
between the period of the notices of him, found in the Presbytery records in 1647,
as above, and the notice of the irregular marriage of the heiress to Colquhoun of
Luss in 1648. The dates, in so far as they have been obtained from the Presbytery
records, approximate very closely to each other, and induce the surmise that the
outlaw was he whom his clergyman marricd irregularly. We trust, however, for
the sake of the lady, that the son, of whom no evil is known, was in reality
the impatient bridegroom, and that the nefarioiis father had died not long after
¢ sgomewhat declining a plain and free confession of the sin of incest with his sister-
in-law, Lady Katherine Graham, till he had settled his estate in the world.” The
family history and genealogy of the Colquhouns of Luss has never been accurately -
deduced. For the extracts from the Presbytery Records of Dumbarton, I am
indebted to my friend Mr Dennistoun of Dennistoun, whose historical research and
accuracy is well known.
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and consent, then and in these cases, or either of them, these
presents to be null.”

This object of her illustrious brother's solicitude was ere long
married to David Drummond, third Lord Maderty, the intimate
friend and faithful follower of Montrose. And thus ‘the bairn
Beatrix,” became eventually ancestress, through her second
daughter Beatrix Drummond, of a long line of Earls of Hynd-
ford.
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That Montrose had travelled, in their youth, with the dis-
loyal son of thaf doughty Earl of Denbigh who fought and fell
for Charles the First, is not elsewhere recorded ; but we may
accept it as a fact, since Burnet seems to say that he had it
from Basil Fielding himself. Probably he belonged to a party
of young noblemen and gentlemen visiting Rome in 1635, along
with Montrose, and the Earl of Angus, whose father had been
raised to the Marquisate of Douglas at the Coronation in 1633.
From the records of the English College there, it appears, that
“ on the 27th of March 1635, two Scottish Earls, Angus and

" Montrose, in company with other four noble gentlemen of that
nation, were entertained in our Refectory, with all the honours
due to their rank.” Our hero returned to his own country
some time in the year 1636.

A youth of such lineage, figure, and high accomplishments,
could not but anticipate the most gracious reception from his
sovereign. There seems to be no doubt, however, that on his
first appearance at Court he was received in a manner so re.
pulsive as to intimate that his presence was not agreeable to
the monarch. The circumstance is alluded to by various con-
temporary historians ; but it could not have been explained, by
any thing in the character either of the King or of Montrose,
had not Heylin recorded the following curious particulars, both
in his Life of Laud, and in his Commentary upon L’Estrange:

“ The reason of James Earl of Montrose adhering to the
Covenanters, as ho afterwards averred unto the King, was
briefly this :—At his return from the Court of France, where -
he was captain (as I take it) of the Scottish Guard, he had a
mind to put himself into the King’s service, and was advised
to make his way by the Marquis of Hamilton, who, knowing
the gallantry of the man, and fearing & competitor in his
Majesty’s favour, cunningly told him that he would do him
any service, but that the King was so wholly given up to the
English, and so discountenanced and slighted the Scottish
nation, that, were it not for doing good service for his country,
which the King intended to reduce to the form of a province,
he could not suffer the indignities which were put upon him.
This done he repairs unto the King, tells him of the Earl's return






96 LIFE OF MONTROSE.

and the earnest persuasions of the most influential spirits of
the age.

We anticipate the progress of events, by something more than
a twelvemonth from the time when Montrose returned to Scot-
land, in order to corroborate the anecdote derived from Heylin,
with another which coincides with it in a remarkable manner,
and which has also been preserved by a contemporary.

It ie well known, that when Hamilton was dispatched to
Scotland for the purpose of settling that convulsed kingdom in
1638, Montrose, who was now engaged as a leading organ of
the agitation, came in contact with him again. According to
the story we are about to narrate, Hamilton followed the very
same tactics with which he had, not long before, mystified
Montrose at Court. Again did that ill-omened voice startle
the future champion of the throne with the faithless accents,
which this time created more alarm, and sunk deeper into his
heart. On the 5th of July 1638, they met at a conference oc-
casioned by his Majesty’s Declaration, against which the Cove-
nanting party thought fit to remonstrate and protest. To this
conference the Commissioner had summoned the Lords of Coun-
cil, including Montrose’s friend Lord Napier, and his father-in-
law Lord Southesk. Tn their presence Montrose, along with
Rothes and Loudon, attended by their clerical assessors Hen-
derson, Dickson, and Cant, obtained a reception and hearing.
But after their formal reception, and some words of official
courtesy, uttered in presence of tho Lords of Council, HHamilton
took the covenanting deputation out of the presence-chamber
into a corner of the great gallery of Holyroodhouse, where a
geene oceurred, which we must give in the words of the reverend
cuw.'n:lmt.cr who considered the incident worthy of a very precise
record :—

“ But that which came to be most talked of, was something
“""."ll at their parting he told them in private.  For, having
demired th_«mu Lords of Council to stay in that chamber till his
return, himself conveyed them (Montrose and his friends)

h the rooms, and stepping into the gallery, drew them into

n "’f':'"‘"' » and then expressed himself as follows :—
of 0 :1:" |l "_"j'l”;m‘l.‘."m.th".l.m.n’ ] ?l.)oke to you before those Lords
, » i the King's Commiiesioner @ Now there being none

t.llruug
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CHAPTER VIIL

CHARLES THE FIRST AND HIS SCOTTISH COURTIERS AND COUNSELLORS—
LORD NAPIER'S CHARACTER OF THE KING—HIS ACCOUNT OF THE MAN-
NER IN WHICH HE WAS DECEIVED AND CHEATED—PROGRESS OF AF-
FAIRS TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF THE TROUBLES.

THE anecdotes, narrated in the previous Chapter, of the du-
plicity and ruinous double-dealing of the King's minion, cuts
deeply into the question of the monarch’s conduct and charac-
ter, with which the character of Montrose is now for ever iden-
tified. Toillustrate more fully, from new and authentic sources,
the false medium through which Charles I. was compelled to re-
gard and to transact all matters connected with the government
of Scotland, is well worthy of a chapter by itself. As we derive
our information from the contemporary manuscripts of Lord
Napier, we may be assured that Montrose, at a very early period
of his career, was cognizant of the shameful deceptidn practised
upon the King, by Scotchmen of the highest rank and trust in
the State, and that he knew well how to discriminate between
the faults of the monarch, and the crimes of those whom he
trusted, and who wilfully misled him.

The Marquis of Hamilton was not the only Scotch nobleman
who abused the ear, and vitiated the counsels of the King.
Charles, from the moment of his accession, lived and moved,
and had his being, amid an atmosphere of deception and false-
hood, with which his Scottish courtiers surrounded him. Of
this fact we find some curious illustrations among Lord Napier's
manuscripts, which have never entered history. Yet even our
latest historian—he who execrates Charles the First, and deifies
Cromwell —might change his hand and check his pride, would
he condescend to pause on the faithful report of one of the few
Scottish courtiers who, as his own Sovereign declared of him,
was “ free from partiality or any factious humour.” For seven-
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misrepresentations. He confers the most important offices upon
vice and weakness, and disgraces the most virtuous and de-
serving among his subjects. By such infamous arts the best
and wisest princes are sold to the venal corruptions of their
courtiers.”?

In illustration of this miserable state of affairs, Lord Napier
enters into some very curious details, which bear upon them the
stamp of truth, and suggest reflections that might have modi-
fied many u page of modern history. How the King was en-
veloped in the meshes of petty faction, how liable to be imposed
upon, and how willing to do justice if he could but arrive at
the truth, receives an apt illustration from what we are about
to quote ; and as this incident of secret history is graphically
told, and brings Charles. himself on the scene, characterised by
that peculiar brusqueness of address which bespeaks the authen-
ticity of the portrait, no apology need be offered for extracting
the entire passage from the manuscript of one of his few faith-
ful and honest attendants :—

“ His Majesty,” says Lord Napier, *“ being possessed that
the lease of Orkney was given to me upon trust, not only to pay
the whole rent to the King, but also all benefit that should ac-
cress to me as taksman,—while I was at Court, had given com-
mand to one (whom, I do not know, nor could ever learn, al-
though I used extraordinary importunity with the King for that
purpose), to repare to me, and will me, in his Majesty's name,
to surrender the lease of Orkney to the King. The party never
came to me, nor told any body else that he had such commission
from his Majesty to me. But after I had kissed his Majesty’s
hand, and taken horse for Scotland, he framed this answer to
the King, as from me, that I would stand out in law against his
Majesty, and that in justice the King could not take the lease
from me. How soon I knew the cause of his Majesty’s dis-
pleasure against me, I sent a power to Sir William Balfour to
make the surrender, to whom the King expressed his anger
against me in great measure. When I came up I found his

1 The quotation in Lord Napier’s manuscript is from Vopiscus, a learned Syracu-
san, reckoned the Coryphaus among the six authors, called Historie Auguste
Scriptores.
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bu desived, Mo it be just, and your Majesty my judge, and that 1
be not remitted to Scotland, where my enemies are to be my
Judges, and where, if 1 were as innocent as Jesus Christ, 1

' This we shall find was also at all times a great vbject of the covenanting faction,
namely, that the King shonld put those whom they accused into their merciless
Jands in Scotland,
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home to be judged, a point which they laboured by all means,!
so that the King, for his own quiet, was, I may say, forced to
send Sir Archibald Acheson, the other secretary, to me (for
my Lord Stirling excused himself upon the hate I carried to
him), to tell me that there were many informations against me,
therefore desired to know whether I would stand to my justifi-
cation, or submit myself to him. I answered that I was much
bound to his Majesty, and would myself give his Majesty my
answer, and, I doubted not, satisfaction. Which Sir Archibald
having reported, I put myself in the King's way the next day
when he was going from dinner. He beckoned to me, and I fol-

_ lowed him into his bed-chamber, and being alone with him,—

NAPIER. “ Sir, I have received your pleasure by Sir Archi-
bald Acheson, and humbly thank your Majesty for having given
me a choice to stand to my justification, or submit myself to
your Majesty. I will not, Sir, absolutely justify myself before
God, nor before you. Your Majesty might have had a servant
of more eminent abilities, but never a faithfuller nor more dili-
gent, nor better affected. And as for submitting myself to
your Majesty, if my life or estate were in question, I could lay
them both down at your feet ; but this is my honour (dearer to
me than both), which loses by submitting, and cannot be re-
paired by your Majesty, nor any King in the world.

“ The words at first seeming sharp and brusk, he mused a
little, then burst out with these,—

THE King. “ By God, my Lord, you have reason.

“ And withal he told me some of their informations.

NaPIER. * Sir, their hate against me is for no cause given
by me, and to most of them I have done real courtesies, but be-
cause I will not comply with them, nor give way to their de-
sires, to your Majesty’s prejudice, and your subjects, and for
your Majesty’s service and my undertakings in it. But, Sir, I
desire no more but the most rigorous and exact trial that can
be desired, so it be just, and your Majesty my judge, and that I
be not remitted to Scotland, where my enemies are to be my
judges, and where, if I were as innocent as Jesus Christ, I

! This we shall find was also at all times a great object of the covenanting faction,
namely, that the King should put those whom they accused into their merciless
hands in Scotland.
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This, falling out far beyond their expectation, astonished them
a little, especially the Earl of Mar, who fell down upon his
knees with his crutches, and, with tears, intreated the King to
free him of my trouble, and that he could not serve with me,
thus stirring pity to cause injustice. nTo whom the King
said,—

THE KiNa. “ My Lord, I would do you any favour, but I
cannot do tnjustice for you.

“ For the space of eight days after, I was free of their pur-
suit, 8o long as the King remained in Hampton Court, for the
command to set down in writing under their hands did much
amaze them. But every day they had their meetings and con-
sultations how to overthrow me, and being ignorant of the
King’s promise to hear all himself, all their endeavours tended
to get me remitted to Scotland, and tAen they were sure of their
desire. His Majesty, having removed to Theoball’s, asked the
secretary if the informations in writing were delivered to me,
and commanded it to be done instantly. This put them in some
fear that the Lord of Traquair and his friends had procured this
(who was one expecting the place if I should have been put out
of it, and a man of another faction than Monteith and the
secretary), and, therefore, by the Earl of Carrick they most
earnestly dealt with me afresh to treat with Sir James Baillie,
adding great promises, but with the like success as before.
The Secretary then sent me the informations, inclosed within a
letter of his own to me, shewing that it was his Majesty’s plea-
sure that I should send the answers to him to be delivered by
him to the King ; but I would not do so. When I opened the
articles of accusation I found no hand at them, but written on
a little piece of paper, so near the end thereof as not one letter
could be written more, of purpose that, if the King should urge
them to set to their hands upon a sudden, they might gain
some time, in writing them over, to consult upon the matter. I
presently drew up the answers, and on the morrow I told his
Majesty that I had received these articles, and that there was
no hand at them.

THE KiNg. “ That is all one; you know the matter now,
and may answer it.

NAPIER. *“ Sir, there is no judicature, civil or criminal, can
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fied above ; consequently his general estimate of them could not
be complimentary to his native country. The sight of an un-
known adventurer, of rank and pretensions, from that quarter,
was enough to make him close his countenance and his heart,
without the additional impulse of the minion’s jealousy. This
was occasioned, indeed, by the * practising of a few ;™ but that
sufficed to leaven the whole lump, and eventually to stamp upon
the nation, as its characteristic, the vices of a limited and motley
group. The very same dishonesty and frauds which entered the
private and petty cabals of these vicious factions in Scotland,
crossed, confused, and poisoned his Majesty’s counsels in every
conscientious endeavour for the public weal. When the general
revocation of Tithes was first proposed, the King met with a
violent resistance from the interested Barons, several of whom
were disgusting him, at the very time, by their unserupulous
mode of working their private factions at Court. Mar, Rox-
burgh, Morton, and the Chancellor, Sir George Hay, were, from -
personal motives, among the leaders of that opposition, which,
as Burnet informs us, had very nearly occasioned an extraordi-
nary scene of assassination and massacre, when Nithsdale came
to Scotland, commissioned by the monarch to make good the
revocation. It was subscquent to this failure that the famous
Commission of Surrenders, of superiorities and tithes, was issued,
in the year 1627. Napier, in a lctter to a friend, points out
what he considers to be the bad effects resulting from the mis-
management of this affair, and the reasons why it proved so un-
satisfactory to the clergy, the titulars, and the possessors. But
he adds,—* The King, in my opinion, has more just cause of
offence than any other of complaint, to find his gracious and
just endeavours, of vindicating the greatest part of his people
from the oppression of another part, to be thus frustrated and
disappointed, and that, which his Majesty intended for the
general good, to give general discontentment, through the ill-
carriage of the business; whereby his Majesty is defrauded of
the honour due to his virtuous and good designs; than which
never prince intended more just, more gracious, nor more truly
honourable.”

Elsewhere he says,—** The business of tithes, amongst others,
was most constantly prosecuted by his Majesty ; a purpose of
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chief contrivers, and most malicious persecutors of this wicked
Covenant, made against us and our authority, how he can be
able to answer it to God, us and our crown, his own conacience,
or to the world, even in the point of honour and reputation, it
must be left to the world to judge.”

With the state of matters in Scotland of which a necessarily
hasty sketch has been afforded in this chapter, Montrose had
no connection. He was never a party to petty faction ; nor had
he any thing whatever to do with the Tithe agitation, or the
Balmerino treason. But Lord Napier, (the son of the man who
had recently demonstrated to the satisfaction of protestant
Europe, that the Pope was Antichrist, and who could not be
wrong, as, at the same time, he had discovered the Logarithms,)
was himself strongly imbued with feelings hostile at least to
Episcopal rule in the State. *Churchmen’s greatness™ was the
bugbear that continually haunted him, and there was much in
that matter to justify his alarm. He had no sympathy with
factious agitation of any kind. He entertained the highest
opinion of the good intentions and moral character of the King.
But to use the very words which Montrose himself uttered in
his dying hour, ‘ Biskops he cared not for them, and never sought
‘to procure their advancement.” It was from this * guide, philo-
sopher, and friend,” that our hero imbibed a taint of presby-
terian bigotry in his boyhood, and retained it to the end.
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Butlers's picture is attractive and comely, compared with the
disgusting reality in Scotland—

‘ The oyster-women locked their fish up,
And trudged away, to cry, * No Bishop.’
Instead of Kitchen stuff, some cry,

A gospel-preaching ministry !
And some, for old suits, coats, or cloak,
No surplices, nor service-book.”

1 The most popular and amusing version of the commencement of the tumults, is,
unfortunately, the least authentic. Sir Walter Scott says :—* As the reader of the
prayers commenced the colicot for the day, an old woman named Jenny Geddes,
who kept a green-stall in the High Street, bawled out—* The deil colick in the wame
of thee, thou false thief | dost thou say the mass at my lug ' With that she flung at
the Dean’s head the stool upon which she had been sitting, and a wild tumnlt in-
stantly commenced.”—Hist. vol. i. p. 414. It is not explained how the Dean could
have been reading at the old woman’s ear. The real story is this, for which we
have abundant contemporary authority. The premeditated tumult having com-
menced the instant the book was opened, with ¢ clapping of hands, cursings, and
outeries,” raised by “ a number of the meaner sort of the people, most of them
wuiting-maids and women, who use in that town to keep places for the better sort,”
—then it happened that ¢ there was a gentleman, who, standing behind a pew,
and answering amen to what the Dean was reading, a she zealot hearing him,
starts up in choler,—¢ Traitor (says she), dost thou say mass at my ear f and
with that struck him on the face with her Bible in great indignation and fury.”
This is the contemporary account by James Gordon, parson of Rothiemay, in his
History of the Scots affairs. The same story is told in terms very similar, but
in a more exulting spirit, by the author of the scurrilous pamphiet already quoted,
and which Mr Brodie has erroneously attributed to Sir James Balfour. This
was not the virago who flung the first stool. We have no desire to deprive
Jenny Geddes of her honours, or her place in history. Sir Walter Scott had
merely adopted De Foe’s version (the moet amusing), in his Memorials of the
Kirk, which undoubtedly is not the true one. These female servants, who had
to keep places, before great field days, for their ¢ godly matrons,” sometimes for
more than twenty-four hours (which occasioned the most disgusting abuses of the
house of God), were provided with portable folding stools, which, upon the great
occasion in question, they turned into missiles, That these were so used is also
well authenticated. The King, in the Large Declaration (compiled for him by Dr
Balcanquhal), states, that & if a stool, aimed to be thrown at him, had not, by the
providence of God, been diverted by the hand of one present, the life of that re-
verend Bishop, in that holy place, and in the pulpit, had been endangered, if not
lost.” Spalding’s contemporary account states it in terms that coincide with
Guthrie’s anecdote :—* The nobles, being foreseen of this novelty, never heard be-
fore since the Reformation in Edinburgh, devise a number of rascal seroing-women
to throw stools at the reader, and perturb the Kirk, which they did vehemently,”
Kirkton has it, that, ¢ first an unknown obscure woman threw her stool at the
Dean’s head, a number of others did the like by her example.” Jenny Geddes was -
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CHAPTER X.

HAMILTON COMMISSIONER—RETURNS TO COURT—MONTROSR'S FIRST EXPE-
DITION TO ABERDEEN A8 A COVENANTING AGITATOR—NATURE AND
CONDUCT OF THAT MISSION—ITS8 RECEPTION AND 8UCCESS—HAMILTON'S
RETURN FROM COURT—CONCESSIONS OF THE KING—CONDUCT OF THE
FACTION—MONTROSE'S MOST FACTIOUS POSITION—HIS8 EXERTIONS TO
PACK THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF 1638—HIS OPEN AVOWALS DAMAG-
ING TO HIS PARTY—VIOLENT SCENE IN THE ASSEMBLY BETWEEN
MONTROSE, HIS FATHER-IN-LAW, AND THE MODERATOR—HAMILTON
SEIZES THE ADVANTAGE AGAINST MONTROSE, AND DISSOLVES THE AS8-
BEMBLY—ARGYLE EMERGES ON THE BSCENE—HIS CHARACTER—DIS-
GRACEFUL PROCEEDINGS OF THE UNCONSTITUTIONAL ASSEMBLY AGAINST
THE BISHOPS—CONDUCT OF HIS MAJESTY'S ADVOCATE.

TaAT which, on the very spot, was noted in the covenanting
Lord Advocate’s private Diary as an insurrection * by the
women,” and, in the private correspondence of one of the keenest
of the anti-prelatic ministers, as an attempt on the part of
* serving maids to pull down the bishops’ pride,” was not likely
to convey to the monarch’s ear an impression of the voice of
Scotland, in any rational sense of the term. But when Charles
was enabled to gather this much from the distraction of his
councils in the north, that the female servants of Edinburgh,
and those who had placed them in the van, were too powerful
for his whole executive there, he became impressed with the
necessity of quieting the public mind by the presence of a re-
presentative.

The nobleman selected for this important and difficult task,
was the favourite already characterised, who had been accused
of plotting to obtain the crown of Scotland for himself. This
charge against the Marquis of Hamilton was at the time per-
emptorily silenced by the King, owing to his deeply-rooted affec-
tion for his early playmate; and now, as if to leave him not a
pretext for ingratitude, he it was whom he chose as his Com-
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quiet districts; and, by threatening the respectable and harangu-
ing the vulgar, to create that false excitement which had suc-
ceeded 80 well elsewhere. There can be little doubt, however,
that Rothes, still the leader of the revels, organized the scheme,
and influenced his proselyte in the conduct of it. This appears
from the terms of a letter, which the former addressed to his
cousin, Patrick Leslie, of Aberdeen, dated 13th July 1638,
announcing the advent of Montrose and his party; and the
patronizing phrase by which he recommends to their submissive
deference, his nominee and missionary, seems an involuntary
tribute to the natural characteristics of our hero. After urging
the Covenant upon the good town, as a writ inspired, to resist
which would be “ but a fighting against the high God,” Rothes
adds these pointed instructions:—* Do ye all the good ye can
in that town, and in the country about,—ye will not repent it,—
and attend my Lord Montrose, who is a noble and true hearted
cavalier.” 1
Doubtless we must concede, that, in all his phases—

A wight he was, whose very sight wou'd
Intitle him, Mirrour of Knighthood,"—

but he was now in a Hudibrastic attitude, and had he lived to
enjoy Butler (who by the way was born in the same year with
him), must have laughed outright at his own portrait,—
‘* When gospel-trumpeter, surrounded

With long-ear'd rout, to battle sounded,

And pulpit, drum-ecclesiastic,

Was beat with fist, instead of a stick,

Then did Sir Knight abandon dwelling,

And out he rode a-colonelling.”

His staff upon this occasion was composed of a few laymen,
of local distinction, but mere cyphers in the great agitation :
and, instead of an armed host, the redoubtable trio called the
“ three apostles of the Covenant,”—Henderson, Dickson, and
Cant. The district to be honoured with this special visitation,
was an oasis in the desert. There, all that was rational, well-
ordered, and estimable, was yet predominant. Scriptural phra-

1 Patrick Leslie had been Provost of Aberdeen, but was removed from that ofice
for his disloyalty.
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three covenanted apostles, if not trumpet-tongued, were of that
gifted nasal breed which had

‘¢ invented tones to win
The women, and make them draw in
The men, as Indians with a female
Tame elephant, inveigle the male.”

There were some, indeed, who came to scoff'; and none who did
8o remained to pray. The apostles preached from the window
of & large wooden gallery which overlooked the close, or yard,
of the Earl Marischal’s mansion, situated in the market-place
of Aberdeen. Certain contemptuous recusants, who occupied
the leads of an adjoining building, * with little civility,” as ano-
ther contemporary records, “ threw a raven into the crowd of
their convention, while they were at sermon, which was ill taken
by all discreet men.”! Montrose had here a taste of that
species of eloquence, which, very shortly afterwards, when his
loyalty and- good sense was awakened out of the disturbed
slumber that had descended upon it, he himself was constrained
to characterize as “ the arguments, and false positions, of seds-
tious preachers.”®* The proselytes they made, few and insigni-
ficant, were such as learned and loyal Aberdeen could well
spare. And some even of these refused to sign the Covenant,
except under the express caveat of a pointed reservation in
favour of the King’s authority ; which, it was at once seen, that
instrument was artfully framed to overthrow. Montrose would
never understand it in that sense. And when this caveat, and
other crushing riders upon its mainspring, were made the con-
ditions of the subscription of Doctor William Guild, their great-
est acquisition, Montrose drew out, subscribed, and caused his
present followers to subscribe along with him, this emphatic de-
claration, which, even at that early stage, he laid down as the
measure of his defection, and beacon of his career,—* Likeas,
we under subscribing do declare, that we neither had nor have

3 James Gordon’s History of Scots Affairs. Baillie mentions that, to be sure of
an audience, ® they wisely did choose the times when there was no public services
in the churches.”

? Montrose’s Essay on Sovereign Power.
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cited bishops to admit ministers. I answered how I did it, in
-respect they had then both the keys in their hands ; but now
they wanted one of them, which was the chiefest, viz. Assembly.
And then he fell out in these disdainful words, ¢ Ye are over
pert, that dare have respect to any acts of your rebellious As-
sembly, seeing his Majesty discharges them to sit, under pain
of treason.’ And with this he flew away.” !

Taking along with Baillie's indignation at what he calls this
prelate’s smpudence, for proposing to face his accusers, and to
justify himself, that secret letter of instructions to Archibald
Johnston, already quoted, in which this very bishop is marked out
for assault, if not murder, should he dare to appear on the streets,
it seems to be proved beyond question, that all the most zealous
Covenanters considered that the destruction of the Episcopal
clergy must be effected per fas aut nefas, and that the precepts
of Christianity, and the golden rules and principles of evidence,
were by no means to enter into their definition of  righteous
proceeding.” The letter alluded to, which is dated immediately
before the meeting of the very Assembly that was to try the
bishops, is most material to the merits of that anomalous court
of justice. It proves, that although these prelates were sum-
moned to the bar of the Assembly, and excommunicated for de-
clining that unconstitutional and unscrupulous jurisdiction, it
was secretly predetermined, by those who ruled the movement,
that rather than suffer the Bishops to meet their accusers, or
even to shew themselves in public, a mob should be secretly
organized for their * terror and disgrace.”

Montrose had no hand in this peculiar mode of promoting
the cause of Religion and Liberty. But it is the least favourable
circumstance in the history of his career, that, being a member
of an Assembly to which this secret machinery belonged, he was,
more or less, committed to all their public proceedings. He had

1 This curious anecdote, Sir Thomas Hope entitles, on the margin, * Mr Walter
Whytfard’s misbehaviour.” The reader will judge, on the Advocate's own shew-
ing, who bad the best of this skirmish, the calumniated and persecuted bishop, or
the first law officer of the Crown.

? See before, p. 181.
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not even the poor excuse of fanaticism ; nor does he appear to
have been imbued with a persecuting spirit against the prelates,
or to have sanctified to himself the unchristian feelings with
which they were persecuted. He had adopted the opinion that
bishops should be excluded from the constitution of the Church
of Scotland, and that the original Covenant of King James
should be renewed and maintained to that country for ever.
But he took no part in the forms of process or rules of evidence
that were outraged in these proceedings. He was careless (as
he afterwards declared) about Bishops and their fate; and
it required another step in advance against the Throne to rouse
his juster feelings, and to redeem him from the false position of
his ardent youth.
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land), if you think me worthy of any employment, I shall not
weary till the government be again set right, and then I will
forswear this country,”—it is impossible to doubt that his sel-
fish object was still to preserve his exclusive influence over the
King, and the affairs of Scotland. Such was the effect, at least,
of his letter ; for by the return of post his Majesty replied :—
“ HaMiLTON—I have sent back this honest bearer both for
safety of my letters, and to ease me from length of writing ;
therefore, in & word, I thank you for your full and .clear dis-
patch, totally agreeing with you in every point, as well in the
characters of men, as in the way you have set down to reduce them
to obedience ; only the time when to begin to act is considerable.
To this end I have fully instructed the bearer with the state of
my preparations, that you may govern my business accordingly.
You have given me such good satisfaction that I mean not to
put any other in the chief trust in these affasrs but yourself.”
Under these fatal auspices, Huntly was nominally invested
with the lieutenancy of the north, and with authority to raise
his own levies for the King’s service. Most reasonably had he
required that, along with his commission, there should be sent
to him from England two or three thousand men, and arms for
five thousand more, as he was in daily expectation of a hostile
visit from Montrose. Upon the 25th of January 1639, Sir
Thomas Burnet of Leys, a keen Covenanter, though attached
to the house of Huntly, came to the Marquis, and in a friendly
manner told him that the Tables at Edinburgh had directed a
committee to publish the acts of the last Assembly at the
market-cross of Aberdeen, and also to visit the College of Old
Aberdeen, and “ repair the faults thereof.” Upon Huntly’s
expressing some disapprobation of this plan, as contrary to the
King’s authority, and the peace of the country, Sir Thomas re-
plied,—*“ My Lord, I fear these things will be done with an
army.” In vain the gallant Huntly took up his abode in Aber-
deen,—his person guarded night and day by four-and-twenty
gentlemen of rank and condition,—and, from thence cast many
a longing look to the sea-port for his promised succours from
England. ¢ The commission Huntly received,—the aid of men
was promised,—but nothing came to him, after much expecta-
tion, but arms for three thousand foot and a hundred horse,
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about them scarfways, or as some orders of knighthood wear
their ribbons. 7his was Montrose's whimsie. To these ribbons,
ordinarly, the cavalry did append their spanners for their fire-
locks, and the foot had them stuck up in bunches in their blue
caps ; which device seemed so plausible that, when the army
marched towards the border some short time afterwards, many of
the gentry threw away their hats, and would carry nothing but
bonnets, and bunches of blue ribbons, or pannashes, therein ;
despight the English, who diedainfully called them blue-caps,
and jockies.”

Thus has “ the whimsies” of Montrose rendered the blue
bonnet, and * bunch of blue ribbons,” famous in story and in
song. And many a loyal and gallant heart has beat high to
the strain of  blue bonnets over the border,” without knowing
why or wherefore.

The flight of Huntly changed the progress of Montrose into
a military féte. He marched down Dee side, at the head of a
well appointed army of horse and foot, colours flying, trumpets
blowing, drums beating, displaying, in short, the enthusjasm of
unfleshed troops, who had been just assured of victory without
a blow. With all the pomp and circumstance of war, they
marched into the good town of Aberdeen, at ten in the morning
of Saturday, the 30th of March 1639. They entered at the
Over-Kirkgate Port, and so marched down through the Broad-
gate, the Castlegate, and the Justice Port, until they reached
the Queen’s Links. They carried with them a plentiful supply of
provisions of their own, and not more heartily and luxuriously
at the pic-nics of Drumfad,’ did our hero enjoy himself, than~
now upon the links of Aberdeen, in his new capacity of a
triumphant commander. He was surrounded by a distinguished
staff, armed like himself to the teeth, and clad in buff coats and
embroidered baldrics, to which was added the conspicuous
whimsey of the blue ribbon. Here this imposing array, at the
lowest computation six thousand strong, were mustered ; and
the first order issued by the General, instead of being that for
which the Covenanting preachers incessantly longed—* burn
the town of Aberdeen”—was one more congenial to his own dis-
position, and the present humour of his followers—* Go to

} See before, p. 53.
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CHAPTER XIL

NARRATIVE OF EVENTS WHICH ENABLED MONTROSE TO CRUSH THE LOYALTY
OF THE NORTH, AND FIGHT HIS ONLY BATTLE FOR THE COVENANT—
HAMILTON ARRIVES IN THE FORTH WITH A FLEET AND INVADING
ARMY—HIS DUPLICITY DETECTED BY A COMPARISON OF HIS8 CORRE-
SPONDENCE WITH THE KING, AND HI8 CONDUCT OF AFFAIRS IN 8COT-
LAND—HIS TREACHERY TO THE KING AND ABOYNE—THE BARONS'
REIGN—MONTROSE RETURNS WITH HIS8 FORCES TO THE NORTH—S8CAT-
TERS THE BARONS, AND BESIEGES THEIR HOUSES—HIS COLLISION WITH
ABOYNE—TRAITOR GUN—BATTLE OF THE BRIDGE OF DEE—MONTROSE
TAKES ABERDEEN—DECLINES TO OBEY THE INSTRUCTIONS OF THE
TABLES TO DESTROY THE TOWN-—THE PACIFICATION OF BERWICK—
TRAITOR GUN—MAJOR MIDDLETON.

WE have now arrived at that period of Montrose’s career,
when his military capacities came to be more decidedly tested.
The part hitherto assigned to him had been successfully per-
formed ; and certainly with less injury to his character than
might have been expected, considering the nature of the mis-
sions, and who employed him. Military dictation and pageantry,
however, was all that as yet had signalised his profession of
arms. The adventure of lodging the Marquis of Huntly in the
castle of Edinburgh, was a most important result for the cove-
nanting faction. But it had been accomplished arte, not marts.
The event threw the loyalists of the north into a state of great
excitement, and carved out immediate work for our hero of
another description. The capture of their chief had cast the
Gordons, and their great following, all abroad, in a stinging
humour like a dethroned hive ; and, but for the drag upon the
wheels of their exasperated loyalty, so treacherously imposed
by Hamilton, their efforts would not have been in vain, and
might, indeed, have changed the whole aspect of the King’s
affairs. The circumstances which enabled Montrose to gain
his only serious battle as a rebel commander, must now be
shortly narrated.
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dated a few days afterwards, he again says,—* The Lord
Aboyne’s proposition I have in my last recommended to you,
though at that time I thought not himself would be the mes-
senger of it.”

Thus we have certain facts unquestionably proved. The ex-
pedition in arms against Scotland was planned and pressed upon
the King by Hamilton himself. He was not, or professed to
the King not to be, *“ a lover of his country ;” he forswears it in
terms of execration. The employment of invading his native
country was not ¢ thrust upon him ;" he expressly asked it from

" the King. That there was a loyal spirit in the north capable
of being turned to account in arms, he was not ignorant ; he
reported the fact, and proposed the commission of lieutenancy
for Huntly. Yet he never took Huntly himself into these
counsels, but, on the contrary, ‘ slighted him,” when the loyal
Marquis waited upon him in Edinburgh. Let us now see how
he paved the way for the discomfiture of Aboyne by Montrose,
at the very time when his too trusting master was writing to
him that he would “ esteem it a very great service to uphold
my party in the north.” .

The wily minion, timeously informed of the move to Court,
checkmated the inexperienced Viscount. While the latter was
on his return to Scotland, Hamilton sent the troops, which
ought to have followed Aboyne, back to England on the most
frivolous pretexts. The young hope of the Gordons reached
the fleet in high spirits, fortified with his commission as lieu- -
tenant of the north. ¢ In the Admiral’s ship he was royally
feasted, with playing of the ordnance at every health.” But,
alas ! the soldiers were gone. Not a company remained that
could be spared, as he was informed by this High Admiral, who
at the same time held out some false hopes of sending him
succours ere long. * Allow me, however,” says the Admiral,
“ to recommend to you my distinguished friend Colonel Gun :
His great experience will be your best aid: You will find him
invaluable as a military commander and adviser: Take him
along with you,—he is in himself a host.” The vaunted aid of -
this equivocal character proved to be such as obtained for him
the title of ¢ Traitor Gun.” : '
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for our own mutual preservation.” Their short-lived dominion
came to be known as “ the Barons® reign.”

The trot of Turreff occurred early on the morning of Tuesday
the 14th of May, and the successful barons occupied Aberdeen
from the 15th until the 20th. Ogilvy of Banff, and Huntly
himself, endeavoured to communicate this hopeful state of affairs
byletters to the King. The fate of these we learn from Baillie :—
“ Banff made haste to take all advantages of his scarce hoped-
for victory. He ran over the country, repossessed Aberdeen,
which was not unwilling to be brought back to their old friends,
advertised the King of his success, and prayed for supply. The
matter was of consequence. Ogilvie’'s and the Marquis's letters
were tntercepted, wherein we saw the appearance of some more
troubles from the north.” It was to the utter amazement of
the Covenanters themselves, that at this crisis Hamilton per-
sisted in neglecting the cause of the King. ¢ It was thought,”
says Baillie, « that the most, if not all the land soldiers which
the Marquis had, were intended first for Huntly’s service ; but
God disappointed this very dangerous intention, by keeping the
navy some weeks longer on the English coast than was expected,
even till Huntly was in hands, and all his designs broken.™
But Huntly’s capture was no excuse for Hamilton. The partial
success of the barons at Turreff, their occupation of Aberdeen,
and the ardour of Aboyne, opened a prospect of certain success
for the Royal cause had he co-operated with the north at thistime.
Baillie himself adds,—* Yet if at this same time a considerable
supply had been sent to Banff (Ogilvy), ke had wrought us much
woe: but Montrose at once, with Marischal—these two nobls
valiant youths, made haste with all the friends they could
gather.™

Montrose was still in Edinburgh on the 18th of May. The
young Earl Marischal had reached the north prior to this,
baving hastened thither, with some forces levied in the Mearns,
to save his lands from pillage. Secure in his strong castle of
Dunottar, he was negociating with the loyalists, through the
medium of that prudent and peaceful baron, Robert Gordon of
Straloch, and keeping them in play, before Montrose arrived.

' Baillie’s Letter to Spang, dated 28th Sept. 1639, a few months after the event.
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were continually flying among them.” They came to have no
more dread of the musket’s mother than if these had indeed
been their own water stoups, over which many a stormy flyting
had occurred. It is pleasant to record, that all the *serving
maids” of Scotland were not of the tribe of Jenny Geddes,
“who first began to pull down the bishops’ pride,” nor in the
pay of his Majesty’s Advocate, and the mother of his Majesty's
prime minister for Scotland.

Darkness separated the combatants. The assailants bi-
vouacked on the hill. * But while, in the watches of the night,
creature comforts were doubtless being still administered by
the faithful serving-maids to the defenders of their fair city,
and fairer fame, our hero was wide awake. . Taking advantage
of the darkness, he contrived to plant his two demi-cannon
close to the bridge; and when the assault came to be renewed
next morning, it was under circumstances more favourable for
the assailants. A few discharges burst open and cleared away
the portals, and rude defences, at the southern extremity of the
bridge. Colonel Johnston still animated the defence, which was
a8 obstinate as ever. But Montrose was not to be denied. He
had some horse with him, though quite inadequate to cope with
the Gordons; and, moreover, the waters of the Dee had so
risen that ford there was none. Nevertheless, he ordered his
horsemen to display themselves higher up the river, as if they
had discovered a passage, and were about to cross. The ruse,
for such it was, succeeded. Colonel Gun advised, indeed or-
dered—for he professed to be commissioned by the King to
guide the young Viscount—that the cavalry should be with-
drawn from their advantageous position near the bridge, in
order to follow the movement of the enemy’s horse up the river.
In vain was this order remonstrated against, and Colonel Gun
informed that the Dee was impassable without a bridge or a
boat. Upon this, and every occasion when the mercenary was
ocontradicted, he became as obstinate, though never so honest,
as Sir Dugald Dalgetty. He bullied those around him, and
threatened to give up his commission, and complain to the
King. His order upon this occasion was fatal to the defence
of Aberdeen. As the Gordons displayed themselves on the
opposite bank, they came within range of the covenanting
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CHAPTER XIIL

NARRATIVE OF EVENTS WHICH PLACED MONTROSE IN OPPOSITION TO THE
COVENANTERS —RENEWAL OF FACTIOUS PROCEEDINGS — MONTROSE'S
FIRST INTERVIEW WITH THE KING—POPULAR IDEA THAT HE WAS THEN
GAINED OVER, NOT HISTORY—LORD MAHON AND BISHOP GUTHRIK—
MONTROSE’'S OPPOSITION TO THE COVENANTERS IN 1639—HIS OWN
BTATEMENT OF THE CASE — PRINCIPAL BAILLIE'S OPINION OF THE
MOVEMENT—THE EARL OF AIRTH'S8 REPORT TO THE KING—MONTROSE'S
FIRST CORRESPONDENCE WITH THE KING—SCENE BETWEEN ROTHES
AND THE LORD ADVOCATE—MONTROSE RENEWS HIS OPPOSITION IN THE
PARLIAMENT OF 1640— HIS COLLISION WITH ARGYLE IN THE OPPRES-
SIVE MEASURES AGAINST THE HOUSE OF AIRLIE—ARGYLE'S COMMISSION
OF FIRE AND BWORD—IMPEACHES MONTROSE FOR HIS CONDUCT AT
AIRLIE—MONTROSE EXONERATED—PROCEEDINGS OF ARGYLE UNDER
HIS COMMISSION—ITS OPPRESSIVE POWERS—TERMS OF THE ACT OF
EXONERATION FOR HIS EXERCISE OF THOSE POWERS—ABUSE OF THE
KING'S NAME.

\

AFTER the pacification of Berwick, ¢ those that loved peace,”
says Bishop Guthrie, * were filled with hope that our troubles
were ended ; but that was soon checked by an aceident which
fell out upon the 2d of July, and imported that the Covenanters
meant not to sist there; for that day the Lord Treasurer, with
my Lord Kinnoull and General Ruthven, coming in coach from
the Castle through the High Street of Edinburgh, the devowt
wives, who at first put life in the cause, did now, when it was
in danger to be buried, restore it again, by invading them and
throwing stones at them. That this breach of the pacification
had private allowance few doubted, in that those women used
not to run unsent.”

They who feel interested so to do, are apt to treat such con-
temporary records as mere party calumny. But the above is
most substantially corroborated by that anonymous letter, ad-
dressed to the Procurator of the Kirk, in which it is recom-
mended secretly to organize some such tumults against the
bishops, ¢ that, in a private way, some course may be taken
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high-minded Montrose was a mere hireling of the King, because
he refused to go further?

Charles indeed, soon after the treaty of Berwick, was in-
formed that our hero had generally so demeaned and expressed
himeelf, that his opposition to a rampant democracy might now
be counted on. But that his presentation to the King, upon
the occasion in question, had anything in it of the nature of
luring a raking hawk, is sufficiently disproved by the very terms
in which, some months thereafter, his loyal tendency was re-
ported to the Sovereign.

We have already had occasion to notice, in connexion with
Montrose, that illustrious scion of his house, William Graham,
Earl of Monteith, Stratherne, and Airth.! Since the period
of our former mention of him, ten years prior to that at
which we are now arrived, double toil and trouble had been his
portion. He had been deprived of all his high offices, disgraced,
and banished to his own estate, in consequence of some alleged
pretensions, through his Earldom of Stratherne, incautiously ex-
pressed, of having redder blood than the King himself. In 1637,
however, an order of council was issued for his enlargement ;
and in 1639 he was re-admitted to the council-board, and the
confidence of his Sovereign, under the less dangerous style and
title of Farl of Airth, which had been bestowed upon him as a
compromise. That he did not consider himself very unjustly or
cruelly treated by the King, would appear from the fact, that
in the same year we discover him in confidential correspondence
with Charles; and, secmingly with great sincerity, affording
him the best information he could obtain relative to the state
of affairs in Scotland, and the actual dispositions towards the
Throne, of the leading men there.

In a letter dated 20th September 1639, addressed by this
nobleman to the King, during that same Parliament in which
Montrose showed himself conservative, the following particular
report of him occurs :—

“ I find that my cousin Montrose hath oarried himself both
faithfully, and is more willing to contribute to his uttermost in
anything for your Majesty’s service, than any of these Lords

! See before, p. 54.
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Then the father of the Covenant himself, whose ‘ canniness,”
as Baillie assures us, had “ brought in™ Montrose, was becoming
much less canny, in a cause which had not yet brought him that
wealth and aggrandizement which he soon had an opportunity
of proving were the motives of his agitation. At this same
crisis, between the prorogation of the Parliament in 1639, and
its re-assembling in 1640, his violence was such as not a little
to alarm even the Lord Advocate ; in a private interview with
whom, he so completely exposed his cards, as to cause that ano-
malous and grotesque functionary to relieve his agitated mind,
by noting the instructive interview in his private diary. Rothes
was intensely jealous of Traquair’s present elevation, and very
irate at the manner in which that trimming and uncertain
statesman had excused himself to the King, at the expense of
Rothes and his coadjutors. The following scene has not en-
tered history.

Upon Tuesday, 14th January 1640, between eight and nine
in the morning, the Earl of Rothes came to the Lord Advocate’s
chamber, and after mentioning that he had received a letter in
favour of one George Cumming, pursued as a criminal, he thus
entered upon the real object of his visit :—

“ And thereafter he (Rothes) showed me a trinkett of paper,
which he said he had drawn furth of a letter from England,
from a good hand, which he read to this sense: ¢ I am sorry to
write that there is a slap to come on the Advocate like as came
the last year upon the Earl of Argyle, to draw up euper inqui-
rendis ;' and therefore, if you have any interest in him, bid him
beware of himself.’

“ My answer was :—* My Lord, I care for nothing. I rest
upon the Lord. Only I wish that God direct you who are
noblemen, and that ye, on oath, seck the main point,—which

by the original transcriber had misled Hailes into giving 2d January 1639 as the
date of the letter, which does not agree with the contents, He had not observed
that the endorsation by Warriston gives the actual date, as above. Hailes’ Memo-
rials are unfortunately replete with blunders of transcription, which render them
very unsafe for reference.

1 See before, p. 110, where “ Super Inquirendis” is explained in Lord Napier's
note of a conversation with Charles I. This indicates the secret intelligenco which
the covenanting faction kept up with the faction in England.

/l












234 LIFE OF MONTROSE.

memory erased from the face of the earth, as Lord Rothes
phrased it. Meanwhile, therefore, he transmitted a command
to the Justice-Clerk to take the Lord Advocate along with him,
and prorogate the Parliament, by virtue of the sub-commission.
Burnet says that the King's Advocate “ was glad both of being
delivered from his disgrace, and for being honoured with the
employment ;” and that, when Parliament was convened, he
moved Lord Elphinstone, as first named in the commission, to
go up with them to the throne and execute the King's com-
mand. That nobleman, however, required to see Traquair’s
order. Hope urged the royal mandate as paramount; but
Elphinstone would not depart from the letter of his commis-
sion. He then turned to Lord Napier, for aid in this emer-
gency ; but he also was far too precise and punetilious in all
such matters, to be guided by anything but the terms of his
own commission. The result was, that the Covenanting Par-
liament of June 1640, determined to sit without the royal
authority at all; and they forthwith elected Lord Burleigh, a
creature of Argyle’s, to be their President.

But is this a Parliament at all? Are we not pronouncing the
throne of Scotland vacant? These were questions which could
not fail to obtrude themselves, and which accordingly occa-
sioned an excited discussion at the outset of their proceedings.
The leaders who undertook to silence these mutterings of the
constitutional conscience, were Argyle, Rothes, Balmerino, and
the notorious Procurator of the Kirk (a future peer in Crom-
well's Parliament), Archibald Johnston. This last was parti-
cularly anxious for the sitting of a Parliament, one statute of
which decreed him a thousand marks yearly for his services.
Their trenchant argument was thus summed up: It is less un-
lawful for us simply to vote Lord Burleigh into the chair, than
to declare King Charles no longer on the throne,—distinetly
implying that there was no other alternative. Of the great
majority of the nobility and gentry in this Convention, who in
their hearts preferrcd the sovereignty of Charles to the dicta-
torship of Argyle, one man alone gave this impudent reasoning
its proper name. They appear for the most part to have been
swayed to and fro by the violence of the movement, like drunken
men. Montrose grew stcadier as the storm increased, and his

/
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Parliament, he wrote privately to the clique in Edinburgh,
urging them to prepare some impeachment against Montrose,
whom he conjectured to be the author of certain accusations of
high treason, impending over the most conspicuous of their own
number. He further imparts his suspicion that the accusation
rested upon the speeches at the debate on the meeting of Par-
liament in June 1640 ; and he reminds his correspondents, how,
upon that occasion, *“ Montrose did dispute against Argyle,
Rothes, Balmerino, and myself ; because some urged, that, as
long as we had a King, we could not sit without him; and it
was answered, that fo do the less was more lawful than fo do the
greater.”!

Montrose, however, was not so weak, nor so strong, as to
attempt an impeachment, upon such grounds as expressions
occurring during an excited debate, against the leaders of a
too triumphant faction. But a variety of incidents, of a more
determined character, which followed that debate in rapid sue-
cession, being the practical commentary on the text of this
Convention, soon impelled him to more active opposition.
These, indeed, were of a nature to leave no doubt on his mind
that the “ bearing down of the monarchy™ was the immediate
object of Argyle and the Kirk, while the great proportion of
the bewildered nobility and gentry of Scotland were standing
like stags at gaze. This nefarious intention, pursued under the
mask of religion and liberty, Montrose determined to counter-
mine. But he was constrained to proceed with the utmost
caution. At the risk of his life, he had to work against the
most powerful, and the most unscrupulous, * practising of a
few,” that ever tyrannised over a nation benumbed. We have
now to trace the steps of his perilous path, until, entirely
shaking off his ugly crysalis the Covenant, our hero emerged
into the full light of loyalty, and staked and lost all,—

“ for a King

Upon whose property, and most dear life,
A damn’d defeat was made.”

1 Original, from Johnston of Warriston to Hepburn of Humbie, 20th April 1641;
Wodrow MSS. So imperfeetly had Lord Hailes printed his selections from this
extraordinary secret correspondence, that his print of the above letter breaks off
where the passage in our text commences. He must have employed a bad tran-
scriber,
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vost of Jedburgh, Mr Alexander Jaffray, burgess of Aberdeen,
in his absence, James Sword, burgess of St Andrews, and Jaines
Scot, burgess of Montrose. These were a mixed multitude;
many heads here, but few statesmen, though all nominated to
sit at the helm. Some of these twere known to favour the King ;!
yet were nominated either to unmask them, or to debauch them
by their concurrence against him; others added for their insuf-
ficiency, as knowing that they bore a zeal to the cause without
knowledge; so the fitter for their ends; they were added as
ciphers to the few digital statesmen who sat here, to make up
number, and for the greater authority; and mainly to delude
the simple ignorants, by making them believe that they had
power and authority, when indeed they had but the name and
others the sway. These were added, and augmented, and changed,
or turned off, as the fow ringleaders saw occasion in the follow-
ing years, or as they found them faithful and forward, or growing
cold or slack ; and before the year turned round there intervened
a foul rupture and schism amongst the principal members of
this Committce. One thing was much remarked here by all
men, that it shewed muck modesty and self-denial in Argyle to
be contented not to be preferred to this high honour. But all
saw he was major potestas; and though not formally a member,
yet all knew that it was his influence that gave being, life, and
motion to these new-modelled governors; and not a few thought
that this junto was his invention. If it were so or not, I deter-
mine not. A reason why he was not nominated, was his absence
at this time in the Highlands, and his being employed much of
this summer in waiting upon the supposed invasion of Strafford’s
army. Yet there was a door left open for him to enter the Com-
mittee whenever he pleased, both as an officer of the army, and
upon the call of tho Committee. For they had power to call
any they pleased to assist them; so, albeit he was not nomi-
nated, yet he was included in the State Committee.”

That the above is a true account of this Committee, whereof
a clique usurped every function of government, and, by means
of the lurking power of Argyle, and the factious abilities
of a few others, commanded the Parliament of which they

1 T have marked with Italics the names of those who were certainly of Montrose'
party, and may be termed conservative.
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tator. But Argyle was too strong for him, and the garrison of
Montrose had to turn out. The state of Gillespic Gruamach’s
feelings, when he found little in the deserted halls of Airlie to
satisfy either his avarice or his vengeance, will be best under-
stood by the following letter, addressed to the head of a distin-
guished branch of the Ogilvys, whom it seems he had imme-
diately summoned to meet him at the castle:—

“ Loving Friend,

“ Since your parting from this, I have got certain informa-
tion that my Lord Ogilvy is this night in your house; for the
which cause I could do no less than direct a company to lie
about your house till it be searched, whereat I entreat you to
take no exceptions, for I do noways doubt you: Only I will give
you this warning, that if you press to conceal my Lord Ogilvy
in your house at this time, it will be more to your prejudice
than you are aware of : And so I hope you will be wise. The
gentleman that is commander of this company is Colin Camp-
bell, Calder’s son. So, referring this to your consideration,
I rest,

* Your affectionate Friend,
“ ARGYLE.”

“ From my Camp at Airlie, 7 July 1640.

* For my loving friend the Laird of Innerquharitie.”™

This characteristic epistle, the affection of which was doubt-
less estimated at its true value by the then representative of
the ancient and loyal house of Innerquharity, may be taken as a
small specimen of that * tyranny of subjects™ from which it
became the object of Montrose to redeem his country. The
chief of the Campbells now played the part of victor after his
kind.

¢ It fell on a day, a bonnie summer day,
When the aits grew green and early,
That there fell out a great dispute
Between Argyle and Airlie.”

! Original, in the charter-chest of Sir John Ogilvy of Innerquharity, Bart. The
Sir John Ogilvy to whom the above letter is addressed, was the first Baronet of
this very ancient branch of the clan. He was living very quietly at the time, and

e






248 LIFE OF MONTROSE.

own grandchild, the Lady Ogilvy, who at that time was near
her delivery; but Argyle would give no licence. This occa-
sioned the Lady Drum to fetch the Lady Ogilvy to her house
of Kelly, and to keep her there upon all hazard that might fol-
low. Yet though Argyle would not consent thereunto, he had
no face to quarrel, afterwards with this generous matron upon
that account, she being universally known to have been as emi-
nently virtuous and religious as any lady in her time.!

“ At such time as Argyle was making havoe of Airlie’s lands,
he was not forgetful to remember old quamels to Sir John
Ogilvy of Craig, cousin to Airlie. Therefore he directs one
Serjeant Campbell to Sir John Ogilvy’s house to slight it. The
serjeant coming thither found a sick gentlewoman there, and
some servants; and looking upon the house with a full survey,
returned without-doing anything, telling Argyle what he had
seen, and that Sir John Ogilvy’s house was no strength at all,.
and therefore he conceived that it fell not within his order to
cut it down. Argyle fell in some chafe with the serjeant, telling
him that it was his part to have obeyed his orders ; and instantly
commanded him back again, and caused him deface and spoil
the house. At the serjeant’s parting with him, Argyle was
remarked by such as were ncar, to turn away from Serjeant
Campbell with some disdain, rcpeating the Latin political
maxim, Abscindantur qui nos perturbant ; a maxim which many
thought he practised accurately, and which he did upon account
of the proverb consequential thereunto, and which is the reason
of the former, which Argyle was remarked to have likewise
often in his mouth, as a choice aphorism, and well observed by
statesmen, Quod mortui non mordent.”?

' Lord Ogilvy,—of whom the anecdote has becn narrated above (p. 66), that he
thought of marrying the lady who became Countess of Montrose, but that their
loves were crossed by an unlucky stream,—was subsequently married to Helen
Ogilvy, eldest daughter of George first Lord Banff.

3 These murderous aphorisms are quite in keeping with the whole conduct of
Argyle, of whom Clarendon says, ¢ that he was a man endued with all the faculties
of craft and dissimulation that were neccessary to bring great designs to effect, and
had, in respect of his cstate and authority, a very great interest in Scotland ; yet
he had no martial qualities, nor the reputation of more courage than insvlent and

imperious personz, whilst they nicet with no opposition, are used to have.”"—/fist.
v. 02,
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to find caution, and give bonds and pledges, to keep peace and
good order, and to compear and answer before the Committee ;
and others that were disobedient, and who would not so do,
were forced to fly, and their houses slapped and slighted, others
demolished and burnt.

“ And the said Earl of Argyle, as commissioner foresaid,
gave out several warrants and commissions for taking order
with some persons that fled and came not in to give their obe-
dience: And before he quitted the fields, he left sundry garri-
sons, both in the fields and in houses belonging to some of the
said enemies, for keeping of the peace of the country, who re-
mained therein for the space of several weeks and months
thereafter.

“ Likeas there were divers other deeds done by the said Earl
of Argyle and his army, during the said space, for settling of
the said disorders in those parts, and bringing of the people
thereof to conformity, in manner at length particularly and
specially mentioned and set down in a particular report made
by the said Earl of Argyle, in execution of his commission, first
given in by the said Earl of Argyle to the foresaid Committee
from the Estates, and to the General at the castle of Dunse,
the 15th day of the said month of August, the said year 1640 ;
and duly ratified and approved by them that same day, as the
said report or account made to the said General, and ratifica-
tion and allowance thereof granted by the said Committee of
Estates, of the date foresaid, at more length bears.

* Likeas the said Earl of Argyle has given a particular ac-
count of all the victual and goods, either furnished to the army
by the under commissaries, or taken by the said army for their
maintenance, or meddled or intromitted with by the said Earl
of Argyle, or by any of his commanders, or by the army by his
order and direction, of the goods and gear of those who were
refractory and disobedient; as the particular account, duly
fitted by the auditors of the common burdens of this kingdom,
upon the 3d day of April last bygone, and ratified and approved
by the said Committee of Estates resident at Edinburgh, by their
act of the date 8th day of the same month of April.”

Then follows a sweeping ratification and spproval of all these
deeds and acts, and a complete exoneration of Argyle, his heirs
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CHAPTER XIV.

NARRATIVE OF EVENTS WHICH INDUCED MONTROSE TO FRAME HIS CONSER-
VATIVE BOND AT CUMBERNAULD—PLANS OF ARGYLE TO OBTAIN THX
SOVEREIGN POWER IN SCOTLAND—HIS BOND FOR CANTONING THE
COUNTRY—ATTEMPT TO ENGAGE MONTROSE THEREIN—ARGYLE'S PRO-
CEEDINGS IN THE BRAES OF ATHOLE BEFORE HIS RAID AGAINST THE
BRAES OF ANGUS—BREAKS HIS PAROLE TO THE EARL OF ATHOLE AND
OTHERS, WHOM HE MAKES PRISONERS—TREASONABLE PROCEEDINGS AT
THE FORD OF LYON, AND BALLOCH CASTLE—MONTROSE JOINS LESLIE
AT THE BORDER—OBTAINS AN ACT OF EXONERATION FOR HIS CONDUCT
IN ANGUS, IMPEACHED BY ARGYLE—REFUSES TO BIGN THE PRIVATE
BOND APPOINTING ARGYLE TO RULE BENORTH FORTH—HIS OWN AC-
COUNT OF THAT AFFAIR—HIS CONVERSATION ON THE SUBJECT WITH
LORD LINDSAY OF THE BYRES—TREASONABLE COINCIDENCES OF THE
SBAMYK KIND OCCURRING ELSEWHERE—HIS CONSERVATIVE BOND AT
CUMBERNAULD—ERETURNS TO THE ARMY ON THE BORDER—IS THE
FIRST TO CROSS TWEED WITH THE ARMY—WRITES TO THE KING—FATE
OF HIS LETTER—HIS DEFENCE OF IT—ARGYLE DISCOVERS THE CUM-
BERNAULD BOND—FATE OF THAT CONSERVATIVE MEASURE—POSITION
OF MONTROSE AT THE CLOSE OF THE YEAR 1640, AND THE COMMENCE~

MENT OF 1641.

ALTHOUGH the power and artful management of Argyle had
enabled him to obtain the formal sanction of the Committee of
Estates to the commission we have just examined, there can be
little doubt that he was the author of it himself. Various plans
for usurping the sovereign sway in Scotland were at this time
cautiously and secretly mooted by the wily chief. He was feel-
ing his way to the theft of a thrope with all the art characteristio
of his talents, backed by the powerful aid derived from the com-
plete devotion to his purposes of the most evil spirits of the
Kirk. The first idea started was, that the deposing of the King
should be at once accomplished, by the clevation of Argyle to
be Dictator in Scotland, according to the classic model. So
bold a proposition creating some alarm among the conspirators,
the next whisper was, that there should be ‘ one General within
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therefore it was written over again, the Earl of Montrose's
name was put in it, and a new meeting appointcd to treat upon
it; and that this was before the Earl of Montrose’s voyage to
the north.”?

“ The Earl of Montrose remits the tenor of the bond? to the
Earls of Mar and Cassilis, Archibald Campbell, and Mr Adam
Hepburn; and, for what his Lordship remembers, the Earl of
Argyle was named in it either absolute General, or General
Commander, and that the noblemen were to be of his com-
mittee.”

The effect of such a deed exclusive of Montrose, would just
have been equivalent to a commission of *fire and sword™
against his possessions, like what had been procured by the
same stealthy potentate against those of Athole and Airlie.
The suggestion of Archibald Campbell was no doubt very un-
pelatable, but could not be resisted either with decency or
safety. Montrose, as we shall presently find, possessed con-
siderable influence with a large section of the nobility, who,
like himself, had accepted military commands in the army now
on the border, but were inclined to qualify and limit their op-
position to the measures of the Court, and their apparent hos-
tility to the King, with those loyal principles upon which our
hero publicly took his stand in the two last Parliaments. The

time afterwards for his approbation and signature. Archibald Campbell, a confi-
dential agent of Argyle, was brother to Sir James Campbell of Lawers, and uncle
to Loudon.

1 Meaning, most probably, Montrose’s last trip to Perthshire and Angus, after
the rising of the Parliament in June 1640. The bond or commission in question
could hardly have been framed 8o early as before his expedition against Aberdeen
in 1639.

3 Meaning the commission of which Archibald Campbell had obtained a modifi-
cation in Montrose’s favour. The noblemen who were eventually named as Argyle’s
committee, under this bond or commission, appear to have been Mar, Cassilis, and
Montrose ; with whom was joined Adam Hepburn of Humbie, a prime Covenanter
and great committce man: he was the confidential correspondent of Warriston,
when this last was agitating with the Scotch Commissioners in England ; See be-
fore, p. 236. The above statement by Montrose is from the original record of his
declaration before a Committee of Estates, when examined on the subject in pre-
sence of Argyle, 27th May 1641. It has been preserved in the Wodrow Collection,
Advocates’ Library, and is endorsed, “ 27 May 1641, Earl of Montrose’s Declara-
tion anent what passed betwixt his Lordship and Mr Robert Murray;” and is signed
by Balmerino, as president of that committee.
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he never would consent that an enemy should do. Upon the
present occasion, therefore, he first kidnapped his loyal oppo-
nent, and then proceeded to hold treasonable discourses, and
press treasonable bonds.

Sir Patrick Ogilvy of Inchmartin, an ancient branch of the
stock of Airlie, and brother-in-law to the Earl of Athole, hap-
pened to be at Balloch Castle; and upon Argyle's assurance to
him that the loyal Earl would be safe to come and free to go at
his pleasure, the latter accompanied Inchmartin to Argyle's
tent, attended by eight gentlemen of distinction belonging to
the braes of Athole. Among these were Sir Thomas Stewart
younger of Grandtully, and John Stewart younger of Ladywell.
Argyle, it seems, besides the main scheme which he kept in
veserve, waiting for the sanction of Montrose, had his poocket
full of bonds, obligations and engagements of all sorts and
sizes; the drift being the same throughout, to bind the lieges
in fealty to him, instead of to the Crown.! This was the ma-
chinery with which he now worked against the gallant loyalists

1 Even with the Kirk and the covenanting government entirely subservient to
him, when the storm raised by the opposition of Montrose to all these transactions
was at its height in 1641, Argyle had great difficulty in giving a decent colour to
his own defence against the notorious fact. He produced in defence as many bonds
a8 he pleased to acknowledge, and no more. Nor were the public ever allowed to
be cognizant of the precise terms even of such bonds as he did produce. He never
ventured to call for or produce the bond or commission to which Montrose’s signa-
ture was required. Nor did he attempt to exculpate himself in this manner before
Parliament, but only to a committee consisting of three of his own devoted friends,
Balmerino, Sir Thomas Hope of Kerse (the Advocate’s second son), and Edward
Edgar (for the burghs), a mere cypher. Balmerino and Hope were tainted with
the very same imputations against themselves; and of course they whitewashed
Argyle. But even the partial record of the bonds which Argyle chose to produce,
as having been all pressed by him in Athole, of dates 2d and 3d July 1640, has a
most suspicious air :—

% 15th June 1641.—The Earl of Argyle produced six bonds, one whereof by the
feuars and tenants of Badenoch, for payment of their duties ; another for doing
their duty in the public; a third by the men of the Brae of Mar and others, for
doing their duty in the public ; a fourth by the Baron of Broachly and others anent
the public; a fifth of the Lord Ogilvy’s friends anent the publio ; and a sixth of the
men of Athole and others for doing their duty in the public ; whereof two of them
are acknowledged by Mr John Stewart to be the bonds mentioned by him in his
deposition last May 1641.”—Original, Wodrow MSS.

This proves at least the extensive dealing of the Earl of Argyle in bonds, pressed
of his own authority upon the lieges in support of * the cause,” which cause con-
sidered his Majesty as ¢ the enemy.”
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cially such as destroved Episcopal rule in Scotland, Montroee
had assented upon his own conviction. From others, which
trenched more alarmingly upon the prerogatives of the Crown,
he announced his manly and consistent dissent. Even this op-
position, however, had matters stopped there, he was willing to
have waived, for the sake of a peaceful settlement of the ruinous
dispute between King and Country. But when he discovered,
by many circumstances coming to his knowledge about the same
time, that there was a project on foot to depose the King, and
to bring Scotland under the military despotism of Argyle, his
face became set like a flint against * the indirect practising of
a few,” with whom, indeed, the unhappy nation had no sympathy,
and he never swerved from his determination to cross all their
“ far designs.”

No sooner had he joined the army on the border, than he was
pursued by an indication of the western potentate’s overbearing
humour, in that impeachment already noticed of his conduct
towards Lord Ogilvy; for which, however, as he tells us, he
obtained a formal act of exoneration, after defending himself
“ bufore the General himeelf, in hearing of the Committee.”
Immediately, however, upon this affair being settled, the bond by
which Argyle was to overrule all benorth Forth, and our hero
to bo one of his committee, was privately pressed upon his
acceptance. This office appears to have been undertaken by
certain noblemen, whom Montrose does not name. But as he
refors to the Earls of Cassilis and Mar, as well as to Alexander
Campbell, and Humby, in support of his own recollection of
the precise tenor of the bond, probably the two noblemen had
boen named along with himself, and had undertaken the some-
what dolicate task. The transaction, however, was a secret.
Neithor the public, nor the Committee of Estates, were cogni-
zant of any such proposition, as is manifest from the subsequent
invostigation into the nature and tenor of these Argyle bonds.
During thoe inquisitorial proceedings which crushed the attempt
of our hero to combine the latent loyalty of the Scotch nobles,
by moans of a conservative bond of his own repudiating such
practiocos, but recognising and adhering to the original Covenant,
one of tho Perthshire clergymen, Mr Robert Murray, minister
of Moethven, mado oath before a committee of the Estates, as

(



















































LIFE OF MONTROSE. 279

English Tintoretto, who, in a very noble portrait, has figured
Pallas in arms beside the hero’s head.!

The reader who is impatient to follow Montrose to the field
of battle, and takes no interest in aught but his triumphs, and
his tragedy, may omit the perusal of the next chapter.

1 See the portrait of Montrose by Dobson, as now first engraved for this volume,
It was painted in 1644. But in this year, 1640, his portrait was for the second
time taken by Jameson. See the history of his portraits in the Appendix.
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of his liberality ; your houses decayed, either by merit or his
grace and favour are repaired, without which you fall in con-
tempt ; the people, jealous of their liberty, when you deserve
best, to shelter themselves, will make you shorter dy the head, or
serve you with an ostracism. If their first act be against kingly
power, their next act will be against you. For if the people be of
a fierce nature, they will cut your throats; as the Switzers did
of old; you shall be contemptible ; as some of antient houses
are in Holland, their very burgomaster is the better man ; your
honours—life—fortunes stand at the discretion of a seditious
preacher !

“ And you, ye meaner people of Scotland—who are not capable
of a Republic, for many grave reasons—why are you induced by
specious pretexts, to your own heavy prejudice and detriment,
to be instruments of others’ ambition? Do ye not know, when
the monarchical government is shaken, the great ones strive for
the garland with your blood and your fortunes? Whereby you
gain nothing ; but, instead of a race of kings who have governed
you two thousand years with peace and justice, and have pre-
served your liberties against all domineering nations, shall pur-
chase to yourselves vultures and tigers to reign over your poste-
rity ; and yourselves shall endure all those miseries, massacres,
"and proscriptions of the Triumvirate of Rome,—tke Kingdom fall
again into the hands of ONE, who of necessity must, and for reason
of state will, tyrannize over you. For kingdoms acquired by
blood and violence are by the same means retained.

“ And you great men—if any such be among you so blinded
with ambition—who aim so high as the Crown, do you think we
are so far degenerate from the virtue, valour, and fidelity to our
true and lawful Sovereign, so constantly entertained by our an-
cestors, as to suffer you, with all your policy, to reign over us?
Take heed you be not Alsop’s dog, and lose the cheese for the
shadow in the well.!

“ And thou seditious preacher, who studies to put the sove-
reignty in the people’s hands for thy own ambitious ends,—as
being able, by thy wicked eloquence and Aypocrisy, to infuse
into them what thou pleasest,—know this, that this people is

3 Montrose was right. Hamilton and Argyle were both sneaking after the Crown
of & 4 both were made “ shorter by the head,” as well as their King.
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\" i l _.mk my interest of bloo

struerure is built upon so sandy a founds
tion as the characters. tablas. and depositions. made up by hin
wio hss ever =< kzowa for g _7=:), or at least a timid ka{f wcitle
beiy: and s Et' ctosen bty the Lord Montrose, and others, fo
neotiating sued dee =P I rlots as are alleged in my summons, the
have been wonieric iv mistaken in their choice. Neither can
be persuaded that, if they had been about any such plot or plot
men of their judmnent. zad understanding. could have been &
far mistaken as to have made use of such a weak and foolis
instrument for negotiating therein.”?

This rebuke was not altogether unmerited by Montrose an
his friends. They had totally mistaken the character of Walte
Stewart. e was suggested to them by Sir Archibald Stewar
of Blackhall, as a convenient courier. being about to proeeed t
Court on some affairs of his own. Thus very accidentally wa
he introduced to those family supper-parties. meeting “ afte
Yule,” one while in Montrose's lodgings in the Canongate, an
another in Lord Napier's house of Merchiston. In that venerabl
castle there is an apartment still in high preservation, decorates
with quaint emblews of the times, and displaying the crown anc
cypher of King Charles in a variety of positions. Ilere we ma
imagine this family circle of conspirators enjoying their new
year's symposia of politics and plotty. The composition of the
party excludes all idea of excess. But doubtless the peakec
beards were dipping into lordly and well-spiced flagons; and a
our hero had been at school only twelve years before, it is to be

! Original Replies of the Earl of Traquair to the libel against him in 1641 ; amon;
the manuscripts of the Advocates’ Library. Only a fragment remains ; but it is ver:
eloquent, and perfectly conclusive.
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or elsewhere ; what presumptions there might be had that h
was the acquirer of his late commission himself, and how h
carried himself therein ;' and what presumptions might be ha
that he did aspire for supremacy above his equals :™ He ha
been so “ desired by the Earls of Montrose and Athole, a
Scone,—with that caveat given me by Montrose, that 1 shoul
rather keep mo within bounds than exceed.” And then h
adds, referring to the declaration he signed before the Com
mittee at his first production by-Montrose,—*‘ Yet, notwith
standing, by that odious paper, I abused his Lordship’s ant
Atholes trust in me, wronged the Earl of Argyle, and discredites
myself,” &e.2

This recantation of the doomed and self-condemned Commis
sary, was finally sworn to and subscribed by him on the 10tt
of June 1641. On the following day, as we have seen, namely
on the 11th of June, Montrose and his friends, were taken un-
awares, and cast into prison, along with Walter and John
Stewart. The potentate then proceeded with great delibera-
tion to select his first victim. There was no difficulty as to the
trial of the ono who had so abjectly condemned himself. His
so-called confession, was taken as a plea of guilty of high trea-
son against Argyle! At the fiat of that merciless man, whose
obliquity of vision had ‘ cast the glamour” over poor degraded
Scotland, the first ominous sound of the axe of the Kirk and
Covenant startled the length and breadth of the land, as, upon
Wednesday the 28th of July 1641, it fell on the neck of the
howling, fainting, laird of Ladywell.?

1 Referring to Argyle’s commission of fire and sword against Athole. See be-
fore, p. 250.

* John Stewart's petition and confession, presented to the Committee of Estates,
7th and 10th June 1641 : Original MS. Advocate’s Library. See all the original
documents printed in the author's ¢ Montrose and the Covenanters,” vol. i. ¢. xvi, ;
and “ Memoridls of Montrose,” vol. i. pp. 296-301.

3 Even the covenanting Buillie was staggered and shocked by the sudden and
murderous result ; and, in attempting to justify it, by a very disingenuous state-
ment, had as usual to wrestle with his somewhat troublesome conscience. See his
Letters and Journals, vol. i. p. 381.
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controlling such as the Earl of Loudon (next in power of the
clan Campbell), and his uncle Archibald Campbell, Burleigh,
Balmerino, Cassilis, Sir John Hope of Craighall, and Sir Tho-
mas Hope of Kerse—the Lord Advocato's two eldest sons,
who controlled that great official—Lindsay of the Byres, thirst-
ing to usurp the Larldom of Crawford, the two Gibsons of
Durie, father and son, Hepburn of Humbie, clerk of the Par-
liament and its committees, and a few others of weaker capaci-
ties and more uncertain objects, composed the government of
Scotland at this time, and ruled it with a rod of iron. From
this vicious cotcrie, every member of the Committee of Estates
who evinced an independent mind, and honest patriotic purpose,
was most effectually excluded, by being instantly transferred to
one or other of their disfranchising schedules, of Incendiaries,
Plotters, Delinquents, and Malignants, up to their grand climax
of *bloody Butchers,” and *viperous brood of Satan.” All
who regarded their own immediate interests more than the
public weal, became, for a time at least, subservient tools of the
more able and unscrupulous leaders. Many well affected noble-
men and barons, who could command little or no personal fol-
lowing, scemed to stand at gaze, bewildered and powerless,
waiting for a crisis, or better times.  Such, for instance, as the
eighteen noblemen who had so recently joined our hero in the
conservative bond. Of these, again, some were seduced or ter
rified into a temporary co-operation, which their consciences
condemned, and their subsequent conduct completely contra-
dicted. The Parliament of Scotland was in the same predica-
ment. Whatever Argyle’s packed committees decreed, that
sanctioned. Tt was the Committee of Estates in another form.
and under a different name. The General Assembly of the
Kirk overruled all. And the * seditious preachers™ of the Co-
venant pasturcd like locusts upon the consciences and common
sense of the people.

The charter-chest and private repositories of our hero were
not left undisturbed. like his noble friend’s. The dire offence
of corresponding with his Sovereign had never yet been brought
to the tangiblo issuce against him which his enemies desiderated.
The letter found in Walter Stewart’s saddle, which we have
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This reply did not satisfy those whose desire it was that he
should plead guilty, like John Stewart. Accordingly, he was
ordered to withdraw. When recalled, the very same question
was put to him, and received tho same answer. A third time
the persevering President urged the question, ** if he had any
thing to represent to the Parliament?” Montrose still an-
swered as before; but, being thus pressed, he added the fol-
lowing words :—

“ T am heartily sorry that it should be my misfortune to
shew mysclf in this condition : For, as it has been far from my
intention to fail in my duty to the public, so was it as much
from my thought to appear here in these terms, that, whereas
such as have been declared enemices to their religion and liberty
were cither to receive just censure or make due acknowledgment,
I should have to consider myself as one within such a prediea-
ment : For what T have done (for the public) is known to a
great many ; but what 1 have done amiss, is unknown to my-
self : However, as truth docs not seek corners, it needeth no farvour:
Neither will T trouble your Lordships with longer discourse ; but
resolutely rely upon my own innocence, and your Lordships'
justice, and still in all humility attend your Lordships® pleasure:

“ Being again removed and thereafter called, the PPresident
did ask as before, © My Lord, have you any thing which I may
represent to the Parliament 2 Montrose answered :

“ ¢ Only what 1 have already humbly represented ; which,
with all patience, 1 am to expect your Lordships’ resolutions
in.  Withal, I am confident, it should not bo necessary for me
humbly to beg vour Lords<hips will bo pleased to reserve me an
car: For T assure mysclf that both justice and your Lordships’
wisdom will plead so much more strongly for me than T could
express it myself: So 1 would only, in all humility, expect your
Lordships” commands : .My resolution is, to carry along with me
Sidelity and hononr to the graee ; and therefore heartily wish that
T may be put to all that it is possible to question me upon ; and
cither shall T give your Lovdships all full and humble content,
or otherwise, not only not depreeate, but petition all the most
condign censure that vour Lordships shall think suitable to so
much demerit.™?

v Original MS, Curiliernandd Charter-chest.  Lord Fieming, Wigton’s e]dest son,
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#lf. How soon we came in at the outmost door, Ais Majesty
took off his Aat, and we approached. The President bade us go
up into the stage appointed for delinquents. And after we had
made our humble courtesy to the King. the President caused
the clerk call the Advocates for the State by name, and then
us. And thercafter he told us, that the Parliament, in regard
of the weighty business in hand. would prorogate our day of
hearing to the Sth of September next. To which I answered,
that what his Majesty, and the Houee, did determine, we must
and should be content with; but that they would be pleased,
since the prime Advocates were taken up,! to allow those who
were to consult with us, to plead 7or us also : and that we might
have delivered to us an extract of the grounds of our process;
and that we mizht meet together to consult about our lawful
defences. that we might be readier to answer. The President
told us. we might supplicate for these things, and that no answer
could be given now. Then I desired to have liberty to speak;
which the President refused, saying. that what I could say was
tr causa? I said, that which I had to say was very short, and
would not trouble them ; and then I desired that his Majesty,
and the House, would be pleased to hcar me. The King—as I
believe, for at such a distance I could not hear3—~dade roice it.
But it was granted, and not voiced.* Then, said I :—* What
we have done, and-while we were adoing of it, we thought we
could not devise to do the King's Majesty, nor the Estates and
Subjects of this Kingdom, better service : And, God be thanked,
1 see his Majesty there : 1 am confident we shall find the gracious
effects of his presence: And, truly, if we have failed, either in
matter or manner,—may be, but I never yet could conceive it :
And yet we have received punishment that bears proportion
1 Following Warriston’s injunctions, written from London, all the most eminent
lawyers were retained, under the title of “ Advocates for the State,” to condnct the
criminal processes against the  Plotters ;” and prohibited, on pain of treason, from
pleading for any one of these. Sir Thomas Hope, the King’s Advocate, was com-
manded to concur, and pursue for kiz Majesty’s interest, a command which he obeyed.
? That is, that Lord Napier could have nothing to say which did not belong to
the subject matter of the charges against him, which they would not allow him to
plead at that time. The P’resident was Balmerino.
3 The scenc is the vast Hall in Edinburgh, still called ¢ the Parliament House.”
¢ The Argyle government were afraid of the King carrying a vote of the House
against them,
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338 L1FE OF MONTROSE.

CHAPTER XIX.

HISTORICAL CALUNMNY THAT MONTROSE OFFERED HIS SERVICES TO K
CHARLES TO ASSASSINATE HANMILTON AND ARGYLE, EXAMINED J
RFFUTED—CLARENDON'S HISTORY REDEEMED FROM A MI1STAKE OF
EDITORS—THE CALUNNY NOT RECORDED BY BURNET — RIDICCL
CHARGE OF INSTLTING THE KING PREFERRED AGAINST MONTROSE
HI1$ 1LIRLL—CONTAINS NO CHARGE OF AN OFFER TO ASSASSINATE—1
KING'S LETTERS TO MONTROSE CONCLUSRIVE AGAINST ALL THE CAL(
NIES—TREATMENT OF HIN AFTER THE KING'S DEPARTCRE—HIS IND
NANT AND CLASSICAL REMONSTRANCE.

WiL.. Montrose never be extricated from these tiresoi
Covenanters! Patience. gentle reader. Presently you sh
wade through blood with him to the scaffold, and see them te
him limb from limb. DBut we have still to redeem him from t
worst calumny that clouds his fame. A stain, indeed, so fo
that if it is not to be obliterated, neither his victories nor }
death will suffice to save his character.

Did Montrose, at this memorable crisis insult his Sovereig
whose hand was vet agitated from its signature of the deat
warrant of Strafford, with an offer of his own personal servie
to assassinate Hamilton and Argyle?

Imagine the nobleman, whom the meanest of his detracto:
admits to have been * stately to affectation,” in the royal close
bowing upon the hand of Charles the First, with the grace of
Bayard, and the propositions of a Blood ! The nobleman wh
with pointed sarcasm, had just reminded the Estates of Sco
land, that, “ As TRUTH does not seek corners, it needeth g
favour.” He who had just hurled in their teeth the haught
and high-minded defiance,—* My resolution is, to carry alon
with mme FipeLiTy and HONOUR to the grave.” The story, i
its worst aspcct, saves the King. Charles is said to have re
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tv & mos: nasier’y Land.  The oolowring of the head is extremel
ani e Sisst Tl especially are warm and glowing as nature
The froce =l I mmonr beasmifully painted, terminates awk
fos mmder e bemd of the dbow. The attitude, being a full
thoost Srw end beoic, is nok craceful, and anvthing but charact
of i ~ampostiie of Vandrek  But the expression is very ani
ue & ¢, £2l the exacTOD £ v not unworthy of havin

T =2 1 1Lsl nacwnsd arrist.  In the cormer of the back-g
e2ratel whove the rigli shoulder of the figure, stands the su
Minrrra srmel s sTrbilical accessory intimating how accurate
artst sppoeciated tie scoomplshed character of the warrior Mi
Ia the :r.site eorzer of the back-ground, also elevated upon
arcbitestzrsl prvoiertiza, rests the helmet of the mailed figure;
reprva.nis.—ss a comparstivels modern label superinduced wpc
awcizzt teinting intimates,— James first Marquis of Montroee.’

A very micute examiration of this portrait, for which his
kindlv aoriad every facility, enables us to pronounce without hes
that it is but the romnant of a much larger picture. The presen
of it is nearly sqaare. but somewhat broader than long. The acce:
in the back-ground are ouat of all proportion to what remains
picture; and assuredly the masterly hand that coloured the hes
armour, never would have added those accessories to any compc
less than a full lenth fizure, on a large canvas. But that the
and shoulders, which are life-size and fortunately in a state of
preservation, represent only a portion of the original painting,
placed beyond doubt by the fact, that the edges of the canvas, -
folded over its present stretcher, distinctly indicate, by the broke
mains of colour, that the original painting had extended on ever
beyond the limit of the present surface.

This splendid work of art, for enough remains to show that s
was when entire, would scem to have been reduced to its present
mentary state, of an ill-proportioned and ungainly head-size, 1
least more than a century back. Vertue and Houbraken each eng
it prior to the middle of last century, without giving more of the |
than we find now. And we cannot doubt that the reason why b
these celebrated artists omitted altogether the ornate and charactc
sccesdories in the upper corners of the picture, was, because the Go
and the helmet, predominating on either side, bully (so to speak
heroic head beyond what the artistic eye could endure. Their se
performances shall bo more particularly noticed afterwards. Tk
curate and pains-taking Vertue has avoided the blunder of affixi
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tenance. This artist has chosen to present a full front view of his
heroic subject ; an ungraceful phase that could only have been selected
by such a master, because of the attractive display of radiant expression,
and youthful colour. In the hands of the engraver, the animation fades
into a simper, and the lustihood of exuberant youth is lost in elderly
obesity. The head of Montrose in the hand of Vertue (a phrase sane-
tioned by his friend Walpole), becomes a stout gentleman advanced in
life, the fat of whose countenance is melting into fatuity. Houbraken
engraving subsequently, or rather professing to engrave, from the same
original, used his tools with greater vigour, and on a larger scale. Here,
indeed, we find both force and expression, but not the expression of the
original. Working in Holland from a careless sketch, and unconscious
of the masterly performance which he professes to record, that great
engraver twaddled about Vandyck, and produced something like a
Dutchman reversed. '

This last has done all the mischief. It occursin the splendid work,
entitled, * The Heads of Illustrious Persons of Great Britain.” Hou-
braken the bold, has given us for Montrose, the chuckle-head and iron-
bound shoulders of the bluffest hero in Holland, confined within an
oval frame, resting on pilasters, and gorgeously decorated, all the
heroic antecedents typified by a battle-piece in a tablet beneath. This
ingenious composition, and it must be confessed masterly engraving,
he entitled,—* James Graham, Marquis of Montrose. Ant. Van Dyck
pinx. J. Houbraken sculps. Amst. 1740; in the possession of his
Grace the Duke of Montrose.” Minerva, and the helmet, have been
turned out of the composition as if de trop; and all, save proportion,
sacrificed to the engraver’s own fat and florid taste.

If Houbraken’s famous head of Montrose were a faithful representa-
tion of the portrait at Buchanan House, and that portrait by the hand
of Vandyck, farewell to all sentiment on the subject of the troubadour
warrior’s personal appearance. That stout old gentleman, who now-a-
days would be voted beyond the age for Crimean glory, wheezing under
a load of armour, his mass of crushed nose and blubber lips suggesting
rather an Esquimaux genealogy than the lineaments of the Graham,
might pass for some Van Tromp of the Ocean, but never for the youth-
ful soldier, who displayed * a singular grace in riding,”” and whose per-
sonal activity was so essential to the many physical feats he is known
to have performed.

Of this celebrated engraving we have before us at this moment an
excellent impression, in the midst of no less than nine repetitions, in
various reduced forms, engraved from time to time for historical and
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parts either of body or of mind. He was a man not very tall, nor
much exceeding a middle stature ; but of exceeding strong composition
of body, and incredible force, with excellent proportion and feature ;
dark brown hair; sanguine complexion; a swift and piercing gray
eye; with a high nose, somewhat like the ancient sign of the Persian
King’'s magnanimity : He was of most resolute and undaunted spirit,
which began to appear in him, to the wonder and expectation of all
men, even in his childhood: He was a man of a very princely carriage,
aud excellent address, which made him for the most part be used by all
Princes with extraordinary familiarity : A complete horseman, and had
a singular grace in riding.”’!

PORTRAIT OF ARCHIBALD FIRST LORD NAPIER, BY JAMESON, IN POSSESSION
OF THE LORD NAPIER. (Page 108).

As the first Lord Napier was highly distinguished, both as a courtier
and a statesman, in the reign of James VI. (whom he served for seven-
teen years in the Bedchamber), and also in the reign of Charles I. (who
selected him as the first Scotsman whom he honoured with elevation to
the Peerage), it was not likely that the omission should have occurred
of no portrait of him having been taken by the Vandyck of Scotland.
Accordingly two portraits of this Lord Napier by Jameson, are yet
preserved ; the one, which has been admirably engraved for this bio-
graphy by Mr Banks, being that possessed by the family; and the
other, that found among the fine collection of portraits by Jameson,
which decorate the baronial halls of Taymouth. This last, which we
have only seen as a fixture forming a pannel above a lofty door, has
every appearance of originality, aud although obviously representing
the same individual, does not appear to be a duplicate of that possessed
by Lord Napier. Why it is found at Taymouth, is accounted for by
the fact, that Alexander Napier, sixth of Merchiston, who fell at Pinkie
in 1547, was married to Anabella Campbell, daughter of Sir Duncan
Campbell of Glenorchy. Both her husband’s father (Alexander fifth
of Merchiston), and her own father, Sir Duncan, died at Flodden.
Through this marriage, the first Lord Napicr was great-great grandson
of Sir Duncan Campbell of Glenorchy, the owner of aucient Balloch,

18ee before, p. 92, note, where the same character is given, slightly varied in the
phraseology, having been there quoted from its adoption in Ruddiman’s edition of
Wishart, published in 1756. In the same note, * Montrose Redirirus" is erroneously
dated 1661, instead of 1652. The additions to Wishart in this last, including the above
character, were probably also written by Saintserf, Dr Wishart Leing at that time in exile.
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PORTRAIT OF SIR GEORGE STIELING OF KEIR, BY JAMESOY, IN POSSESSION
OF WILLIAM STIRLISG, ESQ. OF KKIR, W.P. (Page 381.)

This head-size portrait is in very good preservation, and, as well as
the companion portrait, Lady Stirling, presents a good specimen of the
costume of well-conditioned people in Scotland of that period. It is
signed, in the lower corner next the left arm, “ Jameson ;”’ and dated,
in the upper and opposite corner above the head, “ Anno 1637, Fiatis
22.”" The first year of “ The Troubles.” Most probably both of these,
which originally occupied one frame, with a slip between, were mar-
riage portraits, and painted in their wedding garb. Jameson has af-
fixed his signature to each of them, but has only dated the husband’s.
The deeds of the marriage-settlement are preserved in the Napier
charter-chest, and bear date 2d January 1637, the same year as the
date on Sir George's portrait. That laird of Keir thus became the
nephew of Montroee by marriage. He was beloved and respected by
our hero, and suffered persecution along with him, although he appears
never to bave served in arms. Montrose, in corresponding with him,
used to address him as * Mon Frere;” a style which, through the mis-
take of a transcriber, we had inadvertently printed * Honble Sir,” in
the ¢ Memorials of Montrose.”

Sir George Stirling was twice married: Young as he was in the year
1637, Margaret Napier was his second wife. There is a melancholy
story attashed to Sir George in early life. The following affecting in-
scription, of date four years earlier than his second marriage in 1637,
when he was but twenty-two years of age, is preserved in ¢ Monteith’s
Theater of Mortality,” p. 54 :—

¢ Here lyeth Dame Margaret Ross, daughter to James Lord Ross and
Dame Margaret Scot (daughter to Walter Lord Buccleugh, and sister
to Walter Scot Earl of Buccleugh). She was married to Sir George
Sterline of Keir, Knight, and chief of his name ; and, having lived a
pattern and paragon, for piety, and debonaritie beyond her sex and age,
when she had accomplished seventeen years, she was called from this
transitory life to that eternal, 10th March 1633. She left behind her
only one danghter, Margaret; who, in her pure innocency, soon fol-
lowed her mother, the 11th day of May thereafter, when she had been
twelve months showen to this world, and here lyeth near unto her
interred.

* Dominus Georgius Sterline, de Keir, Eques auratus, familie prin-
ceps, conjugi duleissimee poni curavity, M.pc.xxxnr”
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PORTRALT ¥ ARGY 2.

To these notiees of the portraits of Mommmse. amii some of the bes
beloved of 1is amily dreie. w2 have oniy @ add all that we ean il o
that of 2is arch-memy Arzyie. of which = have Jeen enmbled to
present our readers with 2 wondear. Iz s no Smit of Jurs chat it does
not belie that memorable character which, Claremdion assures ws, Ar
g7'e’s own Zacher thas cerrified m Char'es the Firse:—

= 3ir. [ mnst tmow this young man bezer than vou cam do.  You
have broaght me low. that vou may raise him ; whieh I Juowbt you will
Eve to repent ; for he s a2 man of crart, subdiry and flsehood. and can
love 0o man ; and if ever he finds it in his power w do you mischief,
be will be sare w 4o ic.”

The portrait itself belonged to the late Charles Kirikpatrick Sharp of
Hoddam. That aceomplished historieal antiquary. and amatenr artiss,
eonsidered it an original. When his valuable eolltction beeame &s-
persed at his death, the portrait was acquired by Mr Wiliam Fraser
of the Register House, to whose researches intw the domestic histories
of Sentland, this biography has been indebted om more occasioms thaa
ome. It bears every mark of being eontempnrary with the subject. It
has been re-lined many years agn: and the surface of the empasto iy
seomred, broken, and rudeiy patched. N:vertheless, all the features,
with the very characteristic expression, are quite entire. The style of
the portrait /head size), what remains of the original flesh colour, and
the red priming, are such as characterise portraits of a like kind by
Jameson. Our own opinioa is, that it will prove to be a duplicate, or
esmtemporary copy, of that portrait in possession of the Duke of Argyle
which Lodge has engraved as the Marquis's weaker and less vicious
son. We do not know how this mistake has happened ; but a mistake
we have little hesitation in pronouncing it to be. The same has been
more than once engraved, and with more severity of truth than in the
courtly gallery of Lodge, as the grim Marquis bimself. See frontis-
piece to Buchanan’s History of Scotland, by Aikman, 1848. Lodge
seems to have been playing at hand-ball with these loose heads. We
have from him, as the Marquis of Argvle, one of the finest heads in his
collection, with moustache and imperial that Charles the First might
have envied ; probably the father of the Marquis.
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gave risz to Meniroe:'s memarable vow. RBai-laz himself from the
groaad, with a frame less agitazed. and mare eocpesare i his counte-
nancr, be zave ear ) tkat eloquent and emerzecie counsel.  Wishart,
who 30 well applied the caastie to his spirics. teils us. that the sugges-
tiom of an avenzing duty, especially, sank deep into his beart, and saved
it from suffoeation. “ Yes,” be then exelaimed. ~ the Joad of Eife shall
be borse ; but whatever remains of 1t for me. shall be devoted as an holy
sacrifice, to avenge the martyr King. and to restore his som to his
eountry and his kingdom; and this I swear before God, angels, and
men'!” Having uttered these words, be broke away from his attend-
ants, and sought the inmost recesses of his most private apartments,
where be shut himself up fur three days (triduam/, admitting none to
converse, or even to see him. It was ou the third day, however,
(tertio demum dic) that bhe allowed his chaplain to enter his bedroom.
And then it was, says Wishart, that “ in his bedroom I chanced upon
& small piece of paper (cubiculum ingressus, in chartulam incidi') con-
taining that awful vow, briefly but elegantly turned, in a stanxza replete
with the profound agitation of his soul: For that man of most ac-
complished genius, when he could snatch s moment from the heavy
pressure of his fate, was wont to relax his mind with very happy efforts
in verse.”?

We thus learn that Montrose was a Knight of the Order of Trouba-
dours. The vein ran so strong in him, that his mind was apt to give it
out not merely in repose, but in the moments of most intense agitation.
Another instance, is the occasion of his own death. Having interwoven
his metrical vow, and the worthy chaplain’s accomplished translation
of it, with that chapter of his biography to which they belong (p. 693)
we need not reprint them here. The verses have been criticised as
poetry, according to the political feeling of the historian. The Histo-
riographer Royal for Scotland, Mr Brodie, has pronounced them to be
¢ poetry no less execrable than his actions had been as a member of
society.”” Let him fall down in a fit, upon a like occasion, and revive
and write better. Malcolm Laing, whose history of Scotland is me-
diocrity upon stilts, characterises them as a * strain of bombast.”
Voltaire, struck with that spark of poesy from the opaque bosom of the

t /n chartulam incidi, might perhaps be more aptly translated, pounced upon a small
plece of paper ; for doubtless the worthy chaplain made prize of it at once, and pro-
ceeded forthwith to translate it into Latin verse. The precious scrap is not known to
oxist, It would sell well at Puttick and Simpson's.

8 4 Amanissimi enim ingenii vir, quoties a gravioribus curis vocatio dabatur, animum
postica felicissimé relaxabat.” That Montrose was a man of accomplished genius, we
have, in this biography, otherwise abundantly proved.
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AN EXCELLENT NEW BALLAD, TO THE TUNE OF
¢ I'll never love thee more.”

The First Part.

1.

My dear and only love, I pray
That little world,—of THEE,—

Be governed by no other sway
Than purest Monarchy.

For if confusion have a part,
‘Which virtuous souls abhor,

I'll call a Synod in mine heart,
And never love thee more

2.

As Alexander I will reign,
And I will reign alone ;

My thoughts did evermore disdain
A rival on my throne :

He either fears his fate too much,
Or his deserts are small,

That dares not put it to the touch,
To gain or lose it all.

3.

But I will reign, and govern still,
And always give the law,

And have each subject at my will,
And all to stand in awe ;

But 'gainst my batteries if I find
Thou kick, or vex me sore,

As that thou set me up a blind,
I’ll never love thee more.

4,
And in the Empire of thine heart,
Where I should solely be,
If others do pretend a part,
Or dare to vie with. me,
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I'll marble-wall thee round about,
Myself shall be the door,

And if thy heart chance to slide out,
I’ll never love thee more.

2.

Let not their oaths, like vollies shot,
Make any breach at all,

Nor smoothness of their language plot
Which way to scale the wall;

Nor balls of wild-fire love consume
The shrine which I adore,

For if such smoke about thee fume,
I’ll never love thee more.

3.

I know thy virtues be too strong
To suffer by surprise :

If that thou slight their love too long,
Their siege at last will rise,

And leave thee conqueror, in that health
And state thou wast before ;

But if thou turn a Commonwealth,
I'll never love thee more.

4.

And if by fraud, or by consent,
Thy heart to ruin come,

T'll sound no trumpet as I wont,
Nor march by tuck of drum,

But hold my arms, like Ackaus, up,
Thy falsehood to deplore,

And bitterly will sigh and weep,
And never love thee more.

to mar than to mend these old Cavalier minstrels. Dr Percy took Lovelace in hand,
and changed the line,—so sweetly characterising the Troubles,—“ When, like committed
linnets, | with shriller throat shall sing,”—into, “ When linnet-like confined,1”! And
digsatisfied with the glorious Cavalier's opening Olympus to the view, when he wrote,—
“The Gops that wanton in the air, know no such liberty,”—he doctored the line by
substituting dirds for Gods. What can be more free than the Gods at their wanton
feasts in the Heavens? To change the imagery into birds on wanton wing, was to sub-
stitute a French paper for an Italian fresco.

1 So the old broad-side copy has it. 'Watson's version is not more intelligible,—“ And
hold my arms like ensigns up.” T. Accius, or Attius, was a great orator, and the rival
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That every pilgrim, passing by,
May pity and deplore,

And, sighing, read the reason why
I cannot love thee more.

9.

The golden laws of love shall be
Upon these pillars hung :
A single heart ; a simple eye ;

A true and constant tongue ;
Let no man for more love pretend
Than he has bearts in store ;
True love begun will never end ;
Love one and love no more.}?

10.
And when all gallants ride about
Those monuments to view,
Whereon is written, in and out,
Thou traitorous and untrue;
Then, in a passion,? they shall pause,
And thus say, sighing sore,
Alas! he had too just a cause
Never to love thee more.

11.
And when that tracing goddess Fame
From east to west shall flee,
She shall record it to thy shame,
How thou hast loved me;
And how in odds our love was such
As few have been before ;
Thou lov’dst too many, and I too much ;
So I can love no more.

12.
The misty mount, the smoking lake,
The rock’s resounding echo,
The whistling winds, the woods that shake,
Shall all, with me, sing key ko !

1 The proper reading of this stanza seems to be, that the cnumeration of six * golden
laws of Love,” follows the two first lines of it.

3 This quaint phrase, “ in a passion,” must not be confounded with the vulgar accep-
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1IV.—IN PRAISE OF WOMEN.

When heav’n’s great Jove had made the world’s round frame,

Earth, water, air, and fire; above the same
The rolling orbs, the planets, spheres, and all
The lesser creatures in the earth’s vast ball,—
But, as a curious alchemist still draws _
From grosser metals finer, and from those
Extracts anotber, and from that again
Another that doth far excel the same,—
So fram’d he man of elements combin’d
To excel that substance whence he was refin’d :
But that poor creature, drawn from his breast,
Excelleth him, as he excell’d the rest :
Or as a stubborn stalk whereon there grows
A dainty lilly, or a fragrant rose,—
The stalk may boast, and set its virtues forth,
But, take away the flower, where is its worth ?*
But yet, fair ladies, you must know
Howbeit I do adore you so;
Reciprocal your flames must prove,
Or my ambition scorns to love.
A noble soul doth still abhor
To strike, but where its conqueror.

V.—S8OVEREIGNTY IN DANGER.

Can little beasts with lions roar,
And little birds with eagles soar ?

Can shallow streams command the seas,
And little ants the huamming bees ?

No no,—no no,—it is not meet
The head should stoop unto the feet.

' Burns hit it off more neatly, a céntury and a half later,—
* Auld Nature swears, the lovely dears
Her noblest work she classes, O :
Her prentice han’ she tried on man,
And then she made the lasses 0.
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The purest strain of perfect love
In virtue's dye and season,

Is that whose influence doth move,
And doth convince, our reason.

Designs attend,— desires give place,—
Hopes had, no more availeth;
The cause remov’d, the effect doth cease,
. Flames not maintain’d soon faileth.

The conquest then of richest hearts,
Well lodg'd and trimm’d by nature,’

Is that which true content imparts,
Where worth is join'd with feature.

Fill'd with sveet hope then must I still
Love what's to be admired ;

When frowning aspects cross the will,
Desires are more endeared.

Unhappy, then, unhappy I,
To joy in tragic pleasure,

And in so dear and desperate way
To abound, yet have no treasure.

Yet will I not of fate despair,
Time oft in end relieveth,

But hope my star will change her air,
And joy where now she grieveth.

VIIL.—SPEECIILESS GRIEF.
[ Probably written on the death of Charles the First.)

Burst out my soul in main of tears,
And thou my heart, sighs-tempest move,
My tongue let never plaints forbear,
But murmur still my crossed love ;
Combine together all in one,
And thunder forth my tragic moan.
} « Tun'd by nature,” might be suggested as a better reading. At the same time, a

heart « well lodged and ¢rémm’d by nature,” would secin to mean, that the jewel of a rich
heart should not be without a beautiful casket.
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levying arms against him,—entering in our neighbour nation,—taking
of his Majesty’s towns and forts,—contrary to our Covenant and pro-
mise to his Majesty at Parliament and Pacification,—all invincible
arguments of base disloyalty and high rebellion; which to recall and
repress, we shall, God assisting, ever endeavour.

3d. The third and last is the vindication of our nation from the base
servitude of subjects, who, like the Israelites, have their burdens
doubled, but are not sensible of them; which, before we endure, we
shall rather undergo the hazard of all that man can do to us. On these
grounds, and no other grounds, God is our witness,—who is the
searcher of hearts, before whose tribunal we must all one day appear
and give a reckoning,—that we are, and shall be, most willing to lay
down arms on these terms, and whensoever these conditions shall be
condescended unto: But, by the contrary, or we suffer ourselves to be
bereft of any of these, rather to be bereft of our lives and fortunes.

III. These being the grounds of our proceedings, in the last room
we shall clear ourselves of the false aspersions laid on us.

1st. And first, our enemies brand us as perfidious revolters from our
Covenant ; which, we are bold to aver, none dare do but such as have
perfidiously violated their National Covenant, by novations introdaced
in the Kirk; by rebellion against our Prince; and [oppressing ?] of his
Majesty’s subjects to the loss of their lives, and ruin of their estates ;
[as] is more than manifest in them by their unlawful league; levying
of arms, and going to England; and impositions unheard of under
which the land groaneth; for relief whereof we are willing to suffer,
to spend and be spent, though the more we love the less we are loved.

2d. Secondly, they brand us with a note of malignancy, and disclaim
us as unnatural countrymen, coming against our country in an hostile
way. We answer, we never intended to come against our country, but
Jor our country, and clad with a commission for reforming the abuses
thereof; though many love so the flesh-pots of their own pleasures, that
they cannot part with their particulars on any terms; others stand in
fear of arms, and are afraid to do what they would do on assurance of
victory, but dare not hazard any thing for Religion, Prince, or Coun-
try ; willing rather to be bereft from them by usurpers, than to strive
to enjoy what they have by lawful authority; and are so stuffed with
infidelity, that they can believe nothing but what they see, and can
commit nothing to God ;! a third sort so misled that they perceive not

1 These remarks also stamp this Remonstrance as coming from Montrose, who was
eventually ruined by the miserable backwardness, and frequent defection, of those upon
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ancinted. Such damnable trecckeries the Lord will recompence. 7Trai-
tors to our Country we are not, for we endeavour the Liberties thereof;
but those are traitors. wto, deceive the Country in making them be-
lieve that the religion i< in hazard, when it is not, blessed be God ; that
the King seeks the overthrow thereof, which is far from him, as we have
by many attestations from his Majesty ; as also is made notoricus by his
Majesty’s printed declaration, more worthy of credit than the public
faith of some private committee-men, that foment misunderstanding be-
twixt the King and his subjects ; that oppress the Country with subsidies,
and new-devised excises, pressing them to take arms against their
Prince ; take up the revenues under colour of maintenance of war, when
the soldicrs have free quarters in the Country ;® and, in a word, expose
the Country to the loss of their lives and estates, for their own ends.
Of this they dare not deny themselves guilty, being’lcompassed with
such a cloud of witnesses. Then let thejindifferent auditor judge whether

! Alluding to the councils of Hamilton,Jand some others.
3 See before, p. 253, 3 See after, p. Iv.
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IvV.
ARGYLE'S DEFENCE OF HIMSELF.

The * man of craft, subtilty, and falsehood,” as his own father
characterised him, could not have reasoned his case, like his great
opponent in the foregoing Remonstrance. Neither did he ever, nor do
we believe that he had the ability to discourse like a rational or highly
educated Christian, on the subject of Church and State, or of his own
tenets, views, and objects relative thereto, as did Montrose, in such
papers as his letter on Sovereign Power, in 1640 (p. 280), or his letter
of advice to Charles I., in 1641 (p. 311), or his letter to Charles IL. at
the Hague, in 1649 (p. 700). Argvle’s mode was to assume the sanc-
tity and hallowed integrity of his own character and conduct, by a
free and Pharisaical use, in all his epistles, of the name of God, of Re-
ligion, and of the liberty of the subject. How far he was justified in
this assumption, is well illustrated by that Exoneration which he
extorted from his debased Parliament, for any violence whatever done
to the liberty of the subject, or freedom taken with their property,
houses, or castles, or ‘ for burning of the same, and putting of fire
thereinto, or otherways destroying the same howsoever ; or by putting of
whatsomever person or persons to torture or question, or putting of any
person or persons to deatk, at any time betwixt the 18th day of June
1640, and the 2d day of August next thercafter.” (See before, p. 253).

In the month of September after that unopposed campaign of oppres-
sion and cruelty benorth the Forth, our patriot par excellence writes,—

“ For my much honoured friend, the Laird of Balfour, younger,
these :

“ Most affectionate friend :

* As never ane poor nation hath done and ventured more for the
Religion and Liberty, with greater encouragement for assurance of suc-
cess from God's dealing with us, than this kingdom, so it is not now to
be doubted that any gentleman of honour will be wanting to crown his
endeavours, by putting to his hand in the conclusion of it, whether by
fair treaty (which is wished), or by arms (if necessity urge us to it).
And for this effect, as these of the committee here have given me charge
to invite all gentlemen voluntcers, who desire not their courage, and
affection to this cause, to be doubted,—therefore, as one of that number,
I make bold to intreat you to let me have your company ; and, with
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confusion.! The first was a rumour of a conspiracy at Edinburgh
while the King was there, to take off, by foul means, the Marquis of
Hamilton, and the Earl of Argyle, which Earl had been an active
manager in the late invasion, in August 1640; and it is undoubtedly
true, according to Lord Clarendon, that Earl Montrose privately pro-
posed to the King, and undertook himself, to make them both away;
and no doubt Warriston was to have kept them company.”

The marvel is, that a man like Clarendon could ever have brought
himself to note down at all such unutterable absurdity, even although
he happened at the time to be ignorant that the alleged proposer of this
double assassination (to be performed by himself), was most jealously
watched, under solitary confinement, in the Castle of Edinburgh, and
the prisoner of Argyle, one of those whom he is said to have offered to
assassinate! We have shown (p. 362) that Clarendon had recovered
his senses on that subject. He never published the anecdote. As for
his manuscripts, he was, to say the least, extremely careless of accu-
racy in noting facts respecting Montrose, as we have elsewhere illus-
trated by a signal example (see after, p. 689).

But Acherley, publishing seventy-seven years after the death of
the Marquis, ought to have known the historical fact, that Montrose, when
alleged to have made the offer of his personal services to perpetrate
this double assassination, was actually the prisoner of Argyle; that he
was never even brought before the inquisitorial committee except un-
der * a sure guard;” and never suffered to speak to a human being
without express permission, and in the presence of his jailor. Still,
Acherley takes it entirely upon himself to turn Clarendon’s anecdote
into a treble assassination, by adding the name of Warriston !

2.—JOHN OLDMIXON.

Oldmixon, whom D’Israeli truly characterises as a * vile writer,”
published his history of the Stuarts in the year 1730, and greedily adopted
Clarendon’s anecdote, swallowing Acherley’s addition at the same
time :—

* The King had not been many weeks in Scotland, before news
came to London, of a conspiracy at Edinburgh to murder the Marquis
of Hamilton, and the Earl of Argyle. Lord Clarendon confesses it was

1 Just as ¢ the ministers™ intended that those * occurrences” should do. See the
« Incident™ thoroughly sifted, and critically cxamined, in our former work, “ Montrose
and the Covenanters,™ 1838, pp. 78-168. See also “ Memorials of Montrose,” (Maitland
Club). vol. ii. pp. 1-20 ; Introduction to Part 1V.
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by the introduction of Murray of the Bed-chamber, was admitted pri-
vately to the King ; informed him of many particulars from the be-
ginning of the rebellion (to which, as a member of the Committee of
Estates, he was necessarily privy!); asserted, and offered to prove in
Parliament, that Hamilton was not less faulty and false than Argyle;
but rather advised that they should both be assassinated ; which, with
his usual frankness, he undertook to execute. As Montrose was then in
prison, the inferview was obtained indirectly, through the intervention
of Cochrane2 But Clarendon’s information is otherwise correct. The
assassination of Hamilton and Argyle was characteristical of Montrose.”

So speaks Contitutional History | And all this by means of an interview
between the Sovereign and Argyle’s prisoner; which interview, how-
ever, was not an interview, but an intervention! Characteristical of
Montrose ? Was prior history not teeming with his true characteristics ?
Burnet calls him ¢ well learned, and stately to affectation.”” He was
described, by those sacrificers to the Graces, the covenanting preachers,
haunting his dying moments till he said to them,—* pray, gentlemen,
let me die in peace,”—as being, * in his natural temper aspiring and
lofty, in his way and manners a little too airy and volage ;"' bat, in re-
ply to their fanatical accusations, * discoursing on them handsomely,
a8 he could well do, intermingling many Latin apothegms ;" (see after,
p. 786). This is the testimony of his bitterest enemies! In 1624,
when he was just twelve years of age, riding home for the holidays
from his studies in Glasgow, his worthy ¢ pedagogue’’ notes,—* Given,
at Lord James's command, at his Lordship’s coming from Glasgow to
Kincardine, to two poor soldartes (soldiers) by the way, six shillings :
To the poor, at Lord James's onloupin (mounting), four shillings.”
This was characteristical of Montrose’s boykood, as we have abundantly
proved in the history of his school and college life. ¢ Too great lenity
in sparing the enemy’s houses,—the discretion of that generous and
noble youth was but too great,”’—is the Reverend Robert Baillie's own
characterising of Montrose as a Covenanter. * We pursued for nine
miles together, making a great slaughter, which I would have hindered
if possible ; for well I know your Majesty does not delight in their
blood, but in their returning to their duty; I have saved and taken

1 The parenthesis is Laing’s, not Clarendon's ; and is as weak as it is insidious. Mon-
trose, and all such honest statesmen, although nominally members of the great Commit-
tee, weie carefully excluded from the counsels of the Covenant, and complained that
they were 80 ; see before, p. 238,

? Our old friend, the nervous Colonel ! see before, p. 277 ; a strange selection for Mon-
trose to make, to carry such a proposition. And how did the Colonel get into the Castle ?
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affuirs of the Kirk,—hath the honour to attend your Royal person in
your bed-chamber, and thereby continual occasion of giving information,
and receiving direction from your Royal Majesty in the affairs of the
Kirk, therefore, we do, with all earnestness and humility, intreat that
your Majesty may be pleased to lay upon him the charge of the agent-
ing of the affuirs of the Kirk, about your Majesty. Likeas we, for our part,
do heartily recominend him to your Majesty for that effect ; being con-
fident that the General Assembly shall approve this our recommendation,
and prove thankful to your Majesty for this and all others your Majesty’s
Royal favours to the Kirk of Scotland.”?

Moreover, we find, that our covenanting friend, the Reverend Robert
Baillie, corresponded with William Murray, signing himself, * your
loving friend and agent, R. B.”2 In fact, his family connexion with the
Kirk was very strong, and he became their most efficient tool, notwith-
standing the King’s insane reliance on his fidelity. He was the son of
William Murray, minister of Dysart in Fife, and through the interest
of an uncle, who was preceptor to Charles I., had Leen introduced as a
playmate to the young Prince.8 Another uncle of his, was Robert Mur-
ray, minister of Methven, whose clerical influence was instrumental in
“ bringing in"" Montrose to the Covenant.* Clarendon, the so-called
authority for the assassination story against Montrose, when he had
come to enquire a little more closely into the matter, declares, that the
King himself told him, that it was Murray who had pressed upon his
Majesty the impeachment of Hamilton and Argyle, before the storm of
the ¢ Incident” arose ; and that Montrose himself told him, that Mur-
ray, after he had been “ a principal encourager” of that impeachment,
and after undertaking to prove * many notable things” himself, * was
the only man who discovered that whole counsel to the Marquis of
Hamilton.””® When all this is disclosed, and we discover this same
worthy, immediately after the bruit of the * Incident,” in the double

¥ Contemporary manuscript, Advocates® Lilrary, endorsed, ¢ Coppie of Letter sent
from the C: insi s of the A bly, and his Majesty's answer thereto.” To this
recommendation the infatuated King replies : ¢ Likeas we, having had long proof of the
faithfulness of William Murray, who attends us in our bed-chamber, do hereby declare
that we most willingly accept of your recommendation of him for his receiving of these
leets [of six, out of which a vacancy in churches was to be filled,] and agenting the other
affairs of the church, directed to him from the Presbyteries and Officers of the
church,™ &ec. * Whitchall, the 3d of January 1642."

3 Original, Advocates’ Library. printed in Hailes® Memorials, vol. ii. p. 180.

3 See before, p. 272.

¢ See before. p. 263.

# See before, p. 363, reference to Clarendon. note.
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7.—D’ISRAELI.

This accomplished biographer and champion of Charles the First,
has in like manner defaced his lively Commentaries, with this ugly
blunder. Not observing, that, of those two distinct and separate pages
of Lord Clarendon’s manuscripts which have reference to the ¢ Inci-
dent,” that which is the fullest, and derived from the most authentic
sources, imputes nothing against Montrose, and not only contradicts,
but must have been intended to supersede the former, D’Israeli has
framed his narrative upon an indiscriminate adoption of both. So care-
less on that subject was our loyal author, as to assume that from
Charles himself Clarendon had the anecdote of Montrose’s offer to commit
assassination ; the very reverse being the case. The Chancellor, as
appears from his own manuscripts, had been completely disabused by
conversations not only with the King, but with Montrose. And upon
this confused and mistaken reading, D’'Israeli records, and endeavours
to extenuate, * that frank offer of assassination which the daring and
vindictive Montrose would not have hesitated to have performed by kss
creatures, for he was himself confined in the Castle by the Cove-
nanters.”’

From such a pen, that passage, any thing but history and scarcely
intelligible, must be read with a feeling of melancholy, not unmingled
with a sense of the ridiculous provoked by the apology that follows :

“ Events of this nature, the still barbarous customs of the age had
wot rendered so singular and repulsive, as they appear to our more sub-
ducd manners: The Court of France, where Montrose had some time
resided, offers several remarkable instances, even under the eyes of
Louis XIII. called the Just.” }

But is it not part of the story, that Charles reeoiled with horror from
the proposition ? And did he not write, a few months thereafter, to the
alleged frank offerer,—* MoNTROSE: I know I need no arguments te
induce you to my service: Duty and loyalty are sufficient to a man of
so much honour as I know you to be."” -

¥ D'Israeli's Commentaries on the Life of Charles 1., vol. iv. p. 322.

? See page 366. Judging, however, by Mr Macaulay's character of Charlesthe First,
in the introductory chapter to his dazzling and blinding History of England, that his-
torian would not hesitate to come to the conclusion that Charles was capable of so writ-
ing, even were the anecdote true. But the expressions are volunteered in a private letter
to Montrose himself, immediately after the alleged atrocity. Even an assassin would
mot have so addressed his accomplice.
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The South, the Sunne.

Edinburgh, Rotterdam.

London, Amsterdam.

Parliament of England, Corryuall.

Synod, Apes or Munkies.

Southeske, the auld man.

Trawhquaire, Versatilis.

Carnageny, Our freinde.

Syuel, Achates.

Ogylby, Our cousin.

Lighcoe, the Youth.

Carnwath, the untrusty.

Dumfrise, the Goodman.

Roxbrough, Fozx.

Huntley, the Maurgame.

Siefort, the Warry.

Mr Hope, Argiers.

“ Any other names may be couched plainly, for or against them.

 Bubscribe, Jackson. Direct, To your locing friend Mr Jameson,
merchand, to be left at Robert Inglis, merchand of London, neare
London stone.”

[Endorsed] ¢ Seuerall Cypher Keys.”
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